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REVIEW OF
GROUP OPERATIONS



REVIEW OF
GROUP OPERATIONS

The 2018-19 financial year reflected a particularly adverse operating
environment for financial intermediaries. The global growth estimates being
revised downwards during the first half-year triggered an abrupt price correction
for all the principal asset classes near the end of 2018. Prices then returned
to near normal in the first months of 2019, helped by the monetary policies
implemented, which, however, drove a further significant reduction in interest
rates and impacted on the profitability of the higher liquidity/quality assets.
However, this market scenario did not hamper Mediobanca’s path to growth. The
Group delivered a 6% rise in operating profit from banking activities, on a 4.4%
increase in revenues, with the cost/income ratio stable at 46% and the cost of
risk at an all-time low of 52 bps. Net profit for the twelve months totalled €323m,
lower than last year (30/6/18: €863.9m), due solely to the absence of gains on
disposals of AFS equities which last year added €98.3m (mostly regarding the
sale of the Atlantia stake). The Group’s capital position remains solid, with the
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio above 14%, despite reflecting the share buyback
in progress and the Messier Maris & Associés acquisition. The twelve months
under review were characterized by intense commercial activity: total assets
increased from €72.3bn to €78.2bn, on strong growth in customer loans (up
7.9%) and an impressive performance in total financial assets (TFAs) in Wealth
Management, which were up 6% to €67.9bn.

The 4.4% increase in revenues, from €2,419.3m to €2,524.7m, regarded

basically all segments, as follows:

— Net interest income rose by 2.7% (from €1,359.4m to €1,395.6m), on higher
lending volumes (up 7.9%) with the cost of funding down from 90 bps to 80 bps,
despite the spread on Italian government securities remaining at high levels;
conversely, interest rates remaining negative penalized treasury assets, which
were mostly invested in short-term applications. All business lines reflected
increasing contributions for the twelve months: Consumer Banking up 3.5%,
Corporate and Investment Banking up 2.5%, and Wealth Management up 2%;

— Net treasury income increased from €157.4m to €196.7m, on a healthy
contribution from Capital Market Solutions totalling €130.4m (€82.3m),
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assisted by clients requesting more sophisticated solutions to counter
market volatility and negative interest rates; by contrast, the proprietary
portfolio’s contribution (banking and trading book) decreased from €40.8m
to €34.6m, reflecting the exposure of some trades to the lower interest rates;

— Net fees declined slightly, from €622.2m to €611.2m (down 1.8%), due to
the lower contribution from capital markets activities (down from €65.8m to
€28.9m), net of which growth would have been 4.1%, with good performances
in particular by Wealth Management (up 8.6%, from €258.7m to €280.9m)
and M&A advisory business (up 35.3%, from €64.7m to €87.5m);

— The equity-accounted companies contribution to net equity, virtually all
of which is attributable to Assicurazioni Generali, grew from €280.3m to

€321.2m.

Operating costs rose from €1,114.9m to €1,161.9m, an increase of 4.2%,
with the cost/income ratio unchanged at 46%. Labour costs rose by 4.3%,
chiefly in Wealth Management (up 10.3%), including the consolidation of
RAM and enhancement of the commercial networks in the Private and Affluent
segments (with the addition of 48 bankers); administrative expenses were up
4.1%, reflecting the commercial network expansion (with 23 new CheBanca!
POS and 18 new Compass agencies opened), the increase in I'T spending (linked
to the new platforms, including the new Treasury application). and the intense
project activity (introduction of IFRS 9, MiFID II, and Brexit).

Loan loss provisions decreased by 10%, from €247.2m to €222.6m, and
with lending volumes increasing, reflect a cost of risk for the Group of 52 bps
(a significant reduction on the 62 bps recorded last year and the 124 bps at
end-June 2016); in Wholesale Banking net writebacks of €62.7m were credited,
reflecting ongoing improvement in the valuation of certain UTP positions. The
cost of risk in Consumer Banking recorded its best ever performance, at 185
bps (199 bps last year), as did CheBanca! (16 bps, versus 21 bps), which also
reflects the sale of a small portfolio of legacy bad debts.

Results for the twelve months were impacted by contributions to the
resolution and deposit guarantee funds totalling €53.5m (€46.3m), €26.8m of
which in ordinary transfers to the Single Resolution Fund (€26.3m), €11.2m
to the deposit guarantee scheme (DGS) (€5.4m), and €15.5m in extraordinary
contributions (€14.6m), €6.4m of which in respect of the voluntary contribution
for Carige (the investment having been written off on prudential grounds), and
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€9.1m required by the Italian resolution authority. The heading “Other items”
also includes other minor items totalling €0.5m.

& ok ok

The 2018-19 financial year brings the time horizon covered by the three-
year, 2016-19 strategic plan to a close. The Mediobanca Group has reached
the plan objectives comfortably, on the back of our distinctive business model
which is focused on three highly-specialized segments — Wealth Management,
Consumer Banking and Corporate & Investment Banking — growth in which
is underpinned by long-term upward trends, and our financial solidity. These
factors have enabled the Mediobanca Group to focus on growth and have put
us in an excellent position to enhance distribution, both organically and via
acquisitions.

Over the three years of the plan, revenues have grown at an average annual

compound rate (“3Y CAGR”) of 7% and have reached €2.5bn, as follows::

— Fees have grown by 11% (3Y CAGR), in particular those generated by
capital-light businesses such as wealth management and advisory. The
Wealth Management division is now the leading contributor to fee income at
Group level, with a share of over 40%;

— Net interest income has confirmed its positive long-term growth trend,
reflecting an increase of 5% (3Y CAGR), despite the ongoing negative
interest rate scenario and the deterioration in the macroeconomic backdrop,
due to the Consumer Banking segment which has generated higher volumes
in sustainable margins.

Gross operating profit has significantly exceeded expectations (3Y CAGR:
+16%, vs +10% in the plan) and stands at over €1.1bn (vs target of €1bn).
Crucial factors in this outperformance have been maintaining high asset quality,
which has enabled a substantial reduction in the cost of risk (to 52 bps, vs 105
bps in the plan) and operating efficiency (cost/income ratio stable at 46%).

ROTE! has increased by 3 percentage points, reaching the plan target of
10% despite the absence of gains on disposals, and with a much higher capital
base (CET1 ratio above 14%, approx. 230 bps higher than the plan target).

" ROTE: net profit/average tangible net equity (KT). KT= net equity less goodwill less other intangible assets.

Review of Group Operations | 15



Helped by the high earnings generation capacity and capital absorption
optimization, the CET1 ratio has increased from 12.1% to 14.1% over the three
years, having basically financed organic growth, acquisitions and increased
shareholder remuneration. In the three-year period, approx. €2.5bn in earnings
have been generated; and risk-weighted assets (RWAs) have reduced by some
€10bn (or 20%), following introduction of the AIRB models (large corporate loan
book in CIB and residential mortgage portfolio for CheBanca!), optimization of
market risk and extension of credit risk mitigation (CRM) in Private Banking;
while the Group’s risk density (RWAs/total assets) declined from 73% to 59%
(below the 64% target).

The factors cited above have enabled us to finance substantial organic
growth in our business (the loan book has grown by €9bn over the three years)
plus acquisitions (Banca Esperia, RAM, MMA), and also increase the payout
ratio from 38% to 50% (vs plan target of 40%), as well as launching a new
buyback scheme to involve a total of up to 4.5% of the share capital (including
treasury shares used).

The divisional performances for the year were as follows:

—  Wealth Management has been transformed in the past three years, on the
back of organic growth, implementation of two significant merger projects
(former Barclays’ Italian operations merged into CheBanca!, Banca Esperia
merged into Mediobanca and renamed Mediobanca Private Banking) and
one acquisition (RAM). This process has enabled the Group’s Wealth
Management platform to gain scale (the franchise has almost trebled and
now has 900 bankers) and visibility in its reference markets, standing out
as a highly specialized player able to provide its clients and managers with
innovative product and sale solutions. The division’s contribution to the
consolidated results is now significant: Wealth Management is the biggest
contributor to the Group’s net fees (44%), and generates over 20% of its
revenues and some 10% of its net profits. The gradual expansion in size
drove growth in revenues over the three years of the plan (3Y CAGR: +18%),
with AUM up 31%. The division posted a net profit of €71.2m in the twelve
months, up 2.9% on last year, following revenues of €547.3m and operating
costs amounting to €434m. The Affluent/CheBanca! component contributed
a net profit of €31.5m (€27.7m), on revenues of €297.1m, costs of €236.3m,
and loan loss provisions totalling €13.7m. Meanwhile, the contribution from
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Private Banking (including RAM for the full twelve months) decreased from
€41.5m to €39.7m, on revenues of €250.2m (up 7.2% year-on-year) and
costs totalling €197.7m. The ROAC for the division was 16%, with capital
absorbed in the region of €408m (RWAs €4.5bn);

Consumer Banking delivered record results, confirming its leadership
position in the consumer credit segment by positioning and profitability.
The division’s ranking as one of the top three sector players was confirmed,
with a market share of 11.5% and new loans for the year of over €7bn (up
5%). lts distribution is among the most extensive and diversified in ltaly,
further enhanced in the direct channel with the opening of 18 branches in
the period, for a total of around 200 POS (172 proprietary branches and
27 agencies). The division delivered a net profit for the twelve months of
€336.4m, up 6.7% on last year (€315.3m), confirming its position as the
Group’s chief source of income. Revenues broke through the €1bn mark for
the first time during the year, up 3.1%, from €996.2m to €1,026.9m, and
account for 40% of the Group’s top line (as well as around two-thirds of its
net interest income), beating the targets set in the strategic plan (3Y CAGR:
+6%). The cost/income ratio was unchanged at 28.6%, despite reflecting the
structural increase in overheads due to expanding the distribution network
(18 new POS added). The cost of risk reached its lowest-ever level (185
bps), with loan loss provisions declining from €241.9m to €237.8m (30/6/18:
€360.4m). The ROAC for the division was 30%, with capital absorbed in the
region of €1,130m (RWAs €12.6bn) on loans which grew in the three-year
period at a CAGR of 6%;

Corporate and Investment Banking strengthened its positioning, with
revenues diversified and reduced capital absorption. The division’s
leadership position in Italy was confirmed, with improved client coverage,
for both large caps (organizational model reshaped) and mid-caps (dual
Investment Banking — Private Banking coverage), and a product mix
featuring an increased contribution from capital-light products. In 4Q
geographical distribution was strengthened on the back of the partnership
with MMA. France is now the CIB division’s third core market, alongside
Italy and Spain. The Specialty Finance segment too gained visibility: MB
Facta is now ranked seventh in ltaly for turnover, while MBCredit Solutions
features regularly in auctions for sales of unsecured receivables, with an NPL
portfolio with a nominal value of over €5bn and a net value of some €370m.
The division posted a net profit of €265.8m, largely unchanged versus last
year (€264.5m), on revenues of €627.1m (25% of the consolidated total),
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costs of €269.3m, and net writebacks totalling €36.2m (representing the
balance between €62.7m in writebacks credited in respect of certain UTP
positions in Wholesale Banking, and €26.5m in provisions for the rest of the
portfolio, including factoring and NPLs acquired). The contribution from
Specialty Finance increased versus last year, with net profit up from €30.7m
to €38.5m for both businesses, factoring and NPLs, whereas the bottom line
earned by Wholesale Banking declined from €233.8m to €227.3m, reflecting
a 56% reduction in capital market fees only in part offset by those generated
from M&A advisory and CMS revenues (up 35.3% and 65.1% respectively).
The ROAC for the division was 15%, with capital absorbed in the region of
€1,805m (RWAs €20.1bn);

— Principal Investing reflected a stable portfolio over the three years of the
plan worth approx. €4bn, following disposals of equities of around €500m
and new investments in seed capital for the asset management companies
of over €400m. The Assicurazioni Generali investment remains stable at
13%, with profit up to €320m (3Y CAGR +8%). The division reported a net
profit of €314.2m for the twelve months, down from the €373.8m reported
last year due to the absence of gains on disposals of AFS assets® (30/6/18:
€96.3m, chiefly Atlantia) and despite the higher income generated by the
Assicurazioni Generali stake (up from €279.9m to €320m). The ROAC
for the division was 15% (vs 19% in 2016), despite the higher capital
absorbed by the Assicurazioni Generali investment as a result of the stricter
concentration limit.

— Holding Functions: liquidity and funding indicators remain at comfortable
levels, with the cost of funding under control. In the three years the Group’s
central functions have gradually been optimized, allowing the intense project
activities and regulatory measures to be absorbed. A net loss of €167.5m
was posted for the twelve months, slightly more than last year (€158.9m),
on higher contributions to the resolution funds totalling €53.5m (€46.3m).
Conversely, treasury operations reduced their liability position due to gains
on disposals of banking book securities totalling €45m (€13.1m), which
absorbed the effect of the negative interest rates on the substantial liquidity
position. Leasing operations delivered a net profit of €3.2m (€4.8m); RWAs
for the division amounted to €3.5bn.

2 The introduction of IFRS 9 has impacted on this division’s figures principally in two ways: holdings in equity (formerly accounted for as available
for sale, or AFS) are no longer recognized through profit and loss, whereas funds, including private equity and seed capital, are recognized
through profit and loss, at fair value.
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During the year under review, IFRS 9 on accounting for financial instruments

came into force.” The transition to the new standard has resulted in an approx.

€80m reduction in net equity, due chiefly to the introduction of the new impairment

model, the impact of which on regulatory capital will be spread over the next

five years. The Bank of Italy’s recommended format for financial statements also

changes with IFRS coming into force, leading to minor changes in the way the

Group presents its restated accounts.

Total assets increased from €72.3bn to €78.2bn, on higher lending volumes

and treasury balances (represented gross), performing as follows:

Customer loans rose from €41.1bn to €44.4bn, with all segments contributing
positively, in particular Wholesale Banking (up 11.2%, to €15.6bn;
representing 35% of the stock), Consumer Banking (up 5.6% to €13.2bn;
30%), and CheBanca! mortgage lending (up 11% to €9bn; 20%);

Funding increased from €48.9bn to €51.4bn, reflecting the growth in
CheBanca! deposits (from €14.2bn to €15bn; approx. 30% of the stock) and
Private Banking (from €4.9bn to €7.4bn; 14%). This offset the reduction in
debt security funding, which totalled €18.5bn, after new issues worth €3.1bn
against redemptions and buybacks totalling €3.8bn. Overall the cost of funding
reduced from 90 bps to 80 bps, following the redemption of certain expensive
issues and increased use of secured transactions, including a securitization
of consumer banking receivables for €600m, a covered bond for €750m, plus
over €500m in bilateral bank loans guaranteed by receivables from lending;

Banking book securities (which bring together bonds accounted for as Hold
to Collect and Hold to Collect and Sell) declined from €7.7bn to €6.7bn,
following sales and non-renewals due to market movements in the final months
on spreads and interest rates; in particular, EU government securities held for
regulatory liquidity ratio purposes reduced from €5.4bn to €4.6bn; €2.2bn
of these are Italian government securities with limited duration (approx. 3
years);

Net treasury funds rose from €4.8bn to €5.3bn, with a view to preserving a
substantial liquidity position in a scenario of market uncertainty, replacing
part of the banking book securities; the book value (representing trading assets
and treasury loans) increased from €16.6bn to €19.9bn, due to the increased
operations in equities matched by derivatives entered into with clients.

* For further details and full disclosure on the effects of first-time adoption of IFRS 9, which replaces IAS 39, please refer to the document entitled
“Summary of IFRS 9 accounting standard adoption” published on the Group’s website at www.mediobanca.com.
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Total financial assets in Wealth Management, or TFAs, rose in the twelve
months from €63.9bn to €67.9bn, on €4.8bn in net new money (NNM). AUM
and AUA increased from €37.1bn to €39bn, with NNM of €1.7bn, and a
substantially neutral market effect, having recovered the December outflow in
3Q; direct funding rose from €19.1bn to €22.4bn, confirming clients’ preference
for liquidity in this market phase; while assets under custody decreased from
€7.6bn to €6.5bn. The Affluent segment (CheBanca!) reported net TFAs
of €25.4bn, €15bn of which in deposits (NNM €2.6bn); Mediobanca Private
Banking and the product factories reported TFAs of €21.2bn, €4bn of which
in deposits (NNM €2.3bn); Compagnie Monégasque de Banque reported an
increase from €10bn to €10.5bn, €3.4bn of which in deposits, while RAM and
Cairn reported TFAs of €3.1bn and €4bn respectively (NNM: €0.9bn outflow for
the former, and €0.7bn inflow for the latter).

The capital ratios — calculated by applying the CRR/CRR Il rules, weighting
the Assicurazioni Generali investment at 370%, and factoring in the proposed
dividend (€0.47 per share) as well as the buyback in progress, comfortably
exceeded both the original targets and the regulatory limits. The Common Equity
Tier 1 ratio stood at 14.09%, down slightly compared to last year (14.24%) due
to the buyback (which accounted for 65 bps, after uses of treasury shares made
during the year) and the recent acquisition of Messier Maris & Associés (15 bps,
considering that the upfront price was paid for in Mediobanca shares), which
more than offset the capital generated from current operations (consisting of the
difference between retained earnings, growth in RWAs and fine-tuning of the
buffers required for deductions) and the 40 bps deriving from introduction of
AIRB models for the CheBanca! mortgage loan book (with an average weighting
of under 20%). The fully loaded ratio, i.e. without the Danish Compromise, that
is, with the Assicurazioni Generali deducted in full, and with full application of
the IFRS 9 effect, is 12.83% (30/6/18: 13.15%). The total capital ratio declined
from 18.11% to 17.46% (16.46% fully loaded).

& ok ok

The Group’s progress towards the targets set in the 2016-19 strategic plan
continued during the year under review, with the following developments
particularly worthy of note:

— As part of the drive to strengthen Corporate and Investment Banking
activities in the capital-light businesses and towards countries offering
potential cross-border synergies, on 11 April 2019 a long-term strategic
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partnership was announced between Mediobanca and Messier Maris &
Associés, a French company specializing in corporate finance and M&A
services. Mediobanca acquired a 66% stake in the company financed
entirely with treasury shares. The company is fully consolidated as from this
year;

— With a view to achieving long-term growth in consumer credit operations
in markets with high potential, in August 2018 Compass reached an
agreement with Trinugraha (the consortium which currently owns 45.7%
of the share capital) to acquire 19.9% of PT BFI Finance Indonesia Thk
(“BFI Finance”).* Twelve months since the agreement was signed, certain
contractual formalities required in order to launch the local authorization
process and receive clearance from the ECB, which are prerequisites to
closing, are still pending (these are expected to be obtained by March 2020);

—  Francesco Grosoli was appointed as the new CEO of Compagnie Monégasque
de Banque, replacing Werner Peyer who has taken up the position of non-
executive Deputy Chairman;

— Launch of a share buyback scheme® involving a maximum of 3% of the share
capital (or some 26.6 million shares), for use in connection with possible
acquisitions or to implement share-based compensation schemes, current or
future. As at 30 June 2019 Mediobanca had a total of 15.3 million treasury
shares (or 1.7% of its share capital), following purchases of 20.1 million
treasury shares and uses of 13.4 million;

— Continuation of the roll-out plan for the Group’s internal PD and LGD
models for use in calculating the capital requirements to cover credit risk,
with authorization received for the CheBanca! mortgage lending asset;

— Confirmation of the existing prudential treatment for the Assicurazioni
Generali investment (known as the “Danish Compromise” under Article
471 of the recently-approved CRR 1II) until year-end 2024;

— On 5 February 2019, Mediobanca received the results of the supervisory
review and evaluation process from the supervisory authority (the “SREP
2018 Decision”). The authority has asked Mediobanca to maintain, as
from March 2019, a CET 1 ratio of 8.25% on a consolidated basis (Total
SREP Capital Requirement — TSCR — 11.75%), which includes the Pillar 2

* BFI Finance, set up in 1982 and listed on the Jakarta stock market since 1990 with a market capitalization of approx. €625m, is one of the leading
independent Indonesian consumer credit companies, with an extensive distribution network (over 350 outlets, major partnership agreements in
force with car dealers and independent agents, and telemarketing systems).

> Authorized by its shareholders at the ordinary Annual General Meeting held on 27 October 2018, and by the European Central Bank pursuant to
Articles 77-78 of Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 (the “CRR”) on 23 October 2018.
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(“P2R”) requirement of 1.25%, unchanged from last year, bearing out the
Group’s asset quality and the adequacy of its risk management. The decision
reflects the results of the Group’s stress test, which confirmed our solidity
even in negative scenarios (the impact on CET]1 fully loaded is 182 bps, one
of the lowest levels among EU banks);

—  During 30, the Bank of ltaly, at the proposal of the Single Resolution
Board (“SRB”) pursuant to the BRRD, informed the Group that its MREL
limit was 15.48% of its total eligible liabilities, equal to 21.43% of RWAs.
This requirement is compulsory as from 1 January 2019, but given that
Mediobanca is not subject to the subordination requirement, the effective
MREL ratio is comfortably above the minimum set;

— Amongthe Group’s CSR initiatives: the CheBanca! Academy of Woodworking
has been opened, in conjunction with the Fondazione Cometa. The initiative
aims to offer work opportunities to young people who are unemployed and/
or have personal difficulties; and the INSIEME/TOGETHER project has
continued, which promotes sport for young people in the most vulnerable
categories of society who are at risk of social exclusion, in certain
disadvantaged suburban areas of Milan.

* ok ok
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Developments in capital markets

Recourse by companies to the Italian capital market showed a substantial
reduction in the twelve months ended 30 June 2019 of €8bn, or 73%, to just
€3bn. The value of public tender offers also declined, from €3.1bn to €2.6bn,
with dividends totalling €20.2bn (30/6/18: €20bn). The net outflow of funds to
companies totalled €19.9bn (€12.2bn), meaning the aggregate balance for the
past ten years reflects a net outflow of €89bn, approx. 18% of the stock market
capitalization at end-June 2019:

(€m)
12 mths 12 mths 12 mths
to 30/6/17 1o 30/6/18 to 30/6/19
Issues and placements of:
convertible ordinary and saving shares 14.806 10.893 2.952
non-convertible preference and saving shares — — —
convertible and cum warrant bond 1 — —
Total 14.807 10.893 2.952
of which, for rights issues *:
par value 457 331 100
share premiums 13.020 13.477 1.511 1.842 869 969
Dividends distribution 17.627 19.974 20.243
Public tender offers 2.198 3.096 2.647
Balance (5.018) (12.177) (19.938)

* Excluding IPOs and other public offers, offers restricted to employees, and offers without option rights

Fund raising is no longer concentrated primarily at banks, as had been the
case in eight out of the last ten years, but at industrial groups instead, which
accounted for more than nine-tenths of the rights issues carried out during
the period. Public tender offers recovered slightly at €677m (€582m). Issues
reserved to employees, generally as part of stock option schemes, increased
substantially, from €59m to €1,141m, due primarily to issues made by one
leading banking group in particular, while the number of companies involved
in fact decreased, from ten to seven. The most recent convertible issues for
significant amounts date back to 2010-11.

Dividends increased, albeit marginally, for the fifth year running, up

approx. 1%, from €20bn to €20.2bn, the highest amount since 2008-9, with the
payout ratio up to 54% (compared with 46% the previous year). The amounts
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distributed by segment — and the respective percentages — were similar to those
for last year as well: the banks paid out a total of €5.5bn (27.4% of the total
dividends paid by listed companies), the industrials €12.1bn (59.8%), and
the insurances €2.6bn (12.8%). Some 36% of listed companies failed to pay
dividends, although in the aggregate such companies account for barely 4%
of the total market capitalization (compared with 6% last year). Public tender
offers resulted in eight companies being delisted (versus seven in FY 2017-18).

The net 2018 aggregate results posted by Italian companies listed at end-
June 2019 reflect combined earnings of €32bn, compared with €33.8bn in 2017.
The reduction in net profit earned by the banking groups (which posted a bottom
line of €10bn, compared with €13.8bn last year, at a ROE of 6.8%, as against
9% in 2017), was in part mitigated by further recovery in the industrial groups’
net profits (from €18.2bn to €19.3bn, at a ROE of 10.1%), while the insurance
companies built on the previous twelve months’ result with net profit rising from

€1.8bn to €2.8bn.

Contributing factors to the banks’ performance included an increase
in overheads, which accounted for €0.3bn, a marked deterioration in net
writebacks (€7.5bn) and in net gains on disposals and buybacks (€3.7bn), only
in part offset by the reductions in loan loss provisions (down €4.7bn) and labour
costs (€1.9bn), the growth in net revenues (which contributed €0.6bn) and the
reduced taxation (€0.5bn). In 2018, weakening regulatory capital (which was
7.3% lower) drove a decrease in the total capital ratio, from 17.1% to 16.1%,
despite the 2% reduction in risk-weighted assets. Leverage, expressed in terms
of the ratio between total assets and tangible net equity, in turn increased from
15.5x to 16.7x (compared with an average for the leading European banking
groups of 19.1x, up from 18.9 in 2017).

The insurance companies’ profits recovered from €1.8bn to €2.8bn in
2018 (ROE up from 5.9% to 10.2%). The €3.3bn reduction in claims-related
expenses, the €1.2bn increase in sundry insurance revenues, plus improvement
in non-insurance revenues adding €1.3bn, were in part offset by the contraction
in underwriting income (€4.4bn) plus the rising tax burden (up €0.4bn).
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Industrial groups posted further growth in operating profit, from €18.2bn to
€19.3bn, with ROE up from 9.5% to 10.1%. The €7.1bn increase in value added,
higher depreciation charges on tangible assets (€0.4bn) and net interest expense
(€2bn) and the reduction in net ordinary expenses (€0.2bn), were only in part
offset by the higher cost of labour (€0.7bn), the higher long-term depreciation/
amortization charges (€0.6bn), the increase in writedowns to goodwill (€2.4bn)
and net writedowns (€0.4bn), lower net gains on disposals (€2.2bn), the increase
in the tax burden (€2bn) and higher minority interest (€0.3bn).

Profits earned by companies listed on the STAR segment also rose further,
from €1.4bn to €1.6bn (ROE up from 11.8% to 12.6%). The net profits earned
by companies listed on the AIM also recovered, up from €42m to €178m (ROE
up from 1.5% to 4.3%).

The 18% growth in net debt, against a more modest, 3% increase in net
equity for the industrial companies, drove an increase in the debt/equity
compared to 2017, from 94% to 107%.

The Mediobanca share price index retreated slightly, by 3% (but climbed 2%
in the total return version); like last year, the increases posted by the industrial
companies (up 4%) and insurers (up 18%) were offset by the pronounced, 21%
reduction reported by the banks. Since end-June there has been a slight recovery
in stock market prices, which put on 1% in the period to 30 August 2019). The
average daily value of stocks traded on the MTA in the twelve months ended
30 June 2019 showed an 18% reduction on the previous year, from €2.6bn to
€2.1bn per session. The free float remained close to its all-time highs, at 62%
(61%), while the turnover ratio fell from 12.3% to 11.5%), the lowest levels seen
in the past twenty years; volatility, meanwhile, increased slightly, from 1.4% to

1.6%.

In the twelve months ended 1 April 2019 the changes in share prices which
affected all Western markets were generally, with the exception of the United
States and Switzerland, reflected in the changes recorded in the dividend yield
and also in the price/earnings ratios, as follows:
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% Dividend/ Y% Earnings/

price ratio price ratio

2017 2018 2017 2018
Benelux ** 3.2 2.7 5.7 5.4
France * 2.7 2.8 5.5 4.3
Germany * 2.4 2.6 5.6 6.4
Ttaly * 2.9 3.4 6.2 6.2
United Kingdom * 3.7 3 6.1 5.6
United States * 2.1 22 4.3 4.7
Switzerland ** 3.1 3.1 4 4.5

*  Top 50 profitable, dividend-paying companies by market capitalization.

#%  Top 20 profitable, dividend-paying companies by market capitalization.

NB: Median indicators based on share prices at 1 April 2019. The changes in prices on the principal stock markets between 1 April 2018 and 1
April 2019 were as follows (indexes used are in brackets): Belgium down 4.5% (BAS), Netherlands up 4.6% (AEX), France up 2.6% (SBF
250), Germany down 6.8% (CDAX), Italy down 4.6% (Mediobanca MTA), United Kingdom up 2.7% (FTSE All-Share), United States up
11.1% (S&P 500), Switzerland up 9.1%.

Assets managed by mutual funds incorporated under Italian law (including
funds of funds, closed and hedge funds) saw a reduction in assets under
management, from €254.8bn at end-June 2018 to €243.4bn, reflected in net
outflows of €13bn, mitigated by the operating profit for the twelve months
(€1.6bn). Roundtrip funds also showed an increase in equity, with subscriptions
outweighing redemptions by €4.4bn, and operating profit in a similar amount
(€4.3bn); as at end-June 2019 total assets managed by such funds had increased
in the twelve months, from €316.3bn to €325bn.

The aggregate market capitalization of listed companies at 30 June 2019
totalled €495bn, compared with €533bn twelve months previously, with the
free float declining from €325bn to €306bn; the €10bn reduction, net of rights
issues and changes to the stock market composition, is largely due to changes
in market prices.

* ok ok

The Italian consumer credit market continued its upward trend in the first
six months of 2019, albeit more slowly than in previous years. New loans in the
period ended 30 June 2019 totalled €33.5bn, 5.1% higher than in the same

period last year.

Various factors contributed to this result, chiefly attributable to the positive
trend in household consumption, albeit slower than in the past.
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During the period under review the fastest growth was in vehicle credit (up
8.2% on the first six months of last year) and other special purpose loans (up
14.1%), while the growth was slower in other segments such as personal loans
(up 4.2%), credit cards (up 3.9%), and salary/pension-backed finance (up 3.2%).

2015 2016 2017 2018 1H 2019
€m) % (€m) % €m) % (€m) % €m) %
Vehicle credit 11,805 22.6 13,687 22.6 8,619 14.7 5,861 9.9 3,232 9.7
Personal loans 17,570  33.6 20,137 33.2 22,441 382 24,499 41.1 14,076 42.1
Specific purpose loans 3931 75 4,075 6.7 3,782 64 4,778 8.0 2,486 74
Credit cards 14,474 277 17,472 28.8 18,759 32 19,064 32.0 10,608  31.7
Salary-backed finance 4,484 8.6 5221 8.6 5,103 8.7 5339 9.0 3,049 9.1

52,264 100.0 60,592 100.0 58,705 100.0 59,541 100.0 33,451 100.0

In 2018, the Italian real estate market continued its recovery of recent
years, with the number of properties sold rising to 578,000, up more than 6.7%
on 2017. This trend was confirmed in 1Q 2019, with an increase of 8.8%. The
mortgage lending market for house purchases by households, with new loans
of €50.5bn, reflects practically the same growth rate as that in the number of
transactions (up 6.5%).

The ltalian leasing market in 2018 saw the positive trend recorded in 2017
continue. Overall 725,000 new leases were executed, an increase of 2.8%, for
a total of €29.8bn, up 5.3% on 2017. In the first six months of 2019 the market
continued to grow, with more than 381,000 new contracts (down 7% year-on-
year) and approx. €14.3bn financed (down 9.8%).

New loans 2016 2017 2018 1H 2019

(€m) Yo (€m) Y% (€m) Yo (€m) Yo
Vehicles 11,809  50.1 13,371 50.2 15,722 52.8 7,767 54.3
Core goods 7,640 324 8,993 338 9426  31.7 4,419 30.9
Property 3,809  16.1 3,742 14.0 4,110 138 1,854 13.0
Yachts 328 1.4 522 2.0 516 1.7 253 1.8

23,586 100.0 26,628 100.0 29,774 100.0 14,293 100.0

Source: Dataforce data processed by Assilea.

& ok ok
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Consolidated profit-and-loss/balance-sheet data °

The consolidated profit and loss account and balance sheet have been restated
— including by business area — according to the new divisional segmentation, in

order to provide the most accurate reflection of the Group’s operations.

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che. (%)

30/6/18 (*) 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss data IAS39 IFRS9
Net interest income 1,359.4 1,395.6 2.7
Net treasury income 157.4 196.7 25.0
Net fee and commission income 622.2 611.2 -1.8
Equity-accounted companies 280.3 321.2 14.6
Total income 2,419.3 2,524.7 4.4
Labour costs (557.8) (581.7) 4.3
Administrative expenses (557.1) (580.2) 4.1
Operating costs (1,114.9) (1,161.9) 4.2
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity holdings 98.3 — n.m.
Loan loss provisions (247.2) (222.6) -10.0
Provisions for other financial assets (1.3) 2.1) 61.5
Other income (losses) (58.4) (54.0) -7.5
Profit before tax 1,095.8 1,084.1 -1.1
Income tax for the period (228.1) (256.5) 12.5
Minority interest (3.8) (4.6) 21.1
Net profit 863.9 823.0 -4.7
Gross operating profit from banking activities 767.0 812.9 6.0

o

For a description of the method by which the data have been restated, see also the section entitled “Significant accounting policies™.

# The Group has availed itself of the right not to restate the comparative data for the first year of IFRS 9 adoption on a like-for-like basis.
Accordingly, the figures for FY 2017-18, stated in accordance with TAS 39, are not fully comparable.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(€m)

TAS39 IFRS9 30/6/19
30/6/18 1/7/18

Assets
Financial assets held for trading 8,204.9 8,008.5 9,765.7
Treasury financial assets 8,358.2 8,358.1 10,170.2
Banking book securities 7,744.7 7,943.7 6,095.9
Customer loans 41,127.9 41,019.1 44.,393.7
Equity Investments 3,983.1 3,983.0 3,980.3
Tangible and intangible assets 1,027.7 1,027.7 1,187.6
Other assets 1,854.0 1,892.2 2,051.3
Total assets 72,300.5 72,232.3 78,244,7
Liabilities and net equity
Funding 48,893.2 48,855.7 51,393.2
Treasury financial liabilities 5,290.4 5,290.3 6,565.6
Financial liabilities held for trading 6,462.4 6,462.4 8,027.8
Other liabilities 1,709.3 1,749.5 2,168.9
Provisions 213.0 227.1 190.3
Net equity 8,780.4 8,700.6 8.986.2
Minority interests 87.9 82.8 89.7
Profit for the period 863.9 863.9 823.0
Total liabilities and net equity 72,300.5 72,232.3 78,244.7
Tier 1 capital 6,746.6 6,743.6 6,524.4
Regulatory capital 8,575.3 8,572.3 8,085.6
Risk-weighted assets 47,362.7 47,362.4 46,309.9
Tier 1 capital/risk-weightes assets 14.24% 14.24% 14.09%
Regulatory capita/risk-weighted assets 18.11% 18.10% 17.46%
No. of shares in issue (million) 886.6 886.6 887.2
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BALANCE-SHEET/PROFIT-AND-LOSS DATA BY DIVISION

(€m)
30 June 2019 Wealth  Consumer Corporate and  Principal  Holding Group
IFRS9 Management Banking Investment  Investing Functions

Banking

Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 260.2 898.8 272.7 (7.1) (47.1) 1,395.6
Net treasury income 6.2 — 126.8 18.3 45.0 196.7
Net fee and commission income 280.9 128.1 227.6 — 7.4 611.2
Equity-accounted companies — — — 321.2 — 321.2
Total income 547.3 1.026.9 627.1 332.4 5.3 2,524.7
Labour costs (221.8) (99.4) (139.4) (3.9) (117.1) (581.7)
Administrative expenses (212.2) (194.1) (129.9) (1.2) (60.5) (580.2)
Operating costs (434.0)  (293.5) (269.3) (5.1) (177.6) (1,161.9)
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity
holdings — — — — — —
Loan loss provisions (11.8) (237.8) 36.2 — 9.0) (222.6)
Provisions for other financial assets 0.3 — 0.9 (3.3) 0.1 2.1)
Other income (losses) 0.6 — — — (54.8) (54.0)
Profit before tax 102.4 495.6 394.9 324.0 (236.0) 1,084.1
Tncome tax for the period (28.7) (159.2) (129.1) 9.8) 70.6 (256.5)
Minority interests (2.5) — — — 2.1 (4.6)
Net profit 71.2 336.4 265.8 314.2 (167.5) 823.0
Cost/Income ratio (%) 79.3 28.6 42.9 n.m. n.m. 46.0
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 11,353.8 13,223.0 17,865.3 —_ 1,951.6 44,393.7
Risk-weighted assets 4,533.8 12,564.1 20,065.8 5,641.6 3,504.7 46,309.9
No. of staff 1,936 1,427 621 11 810 4,805
Notes:

1) Divisions comprise:

— Corporate & Investment Banking (CIB): brings together all services provided to corporate clients in the following areas:

— Wholesale Banking, client business (lending, advisory, capital markets activities) and proprietary trading (businesses performed by
Mediobanca and Mediobanca International, Medioba iti

— Specialty Finance: comprises factoring and credit management (including NPL portfolio ac: qulsnl(ms and management) performed by
MBFACTA and MBCredit Solutions;

— Consumer Banking (CB): provides retail clients with the full range of consumer credit products, ranging from personal loans to salary-backed
finance (Compass Banca, Futuro and Compass RE);

— Wealth Management (WM): recently set up division, bringing together all asset management services offered to the following client segments:
— Affluent & Premier, addressed by CheBanca!;

— Private & High Net Worth Individuals, addressed in Italy by the new Mediobanca Private Banking division and Spafid, and in the
Principality of Monaco by Compagnie Monégasque de Banque;

— Asset Management & Alternative, which comprises Cairn Capital, Mediobanca SGR, Mediobanca Management Company, Compagnie
Monégasque de Gestion, CMB Asset Management and RAM Active Investment;

— Principal Investing (PI): division which brings together the Group’s portfolio of equity investments and holdings;

— Holding Functions division which houses the Group’s Treasury and ALM operations (as part of Mediobanca S.p.A.) with the objective of
optimizing management of the funding and liquidity proc t also includes all costs relating to Group staffing and management functions
based at Mediobanca S.p.A.; and continues to include the leasing operations (headed up by SelmaBipiemme) and the services and minor
companies (MIS and Prominvestment). Since 1 January 2019 the Holding Functions division has also been home to the corporate services
area (performed by Spafid Connect).

2) Sum of divisional data differs from Group total due to adjustments/differences arising on consolidation between business areas (equal to €2.9m).
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(€m)

30 June 2018 Wealth  Consumer Corporate and  Principal  Holding Group
T1AS39 Management Banking Investment  Investing Functions

Banking
Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 255.2 868.8 266.1 (7.2) (37.5) 1,359.4
Nel treasury income 12.1 — 110.5 21.9 13.1 157.4
Net fee and commission income 258.7 127.4 254.4 — 15.5 622.2
Equity-accounted companies — — — 280.3 — 280.3
Total income 526.0 996.2 631.0 295.- 8.9) 2,419.3
Labour costs (201.1) (96.1) (137.4) (3.8) (118.2) (557.8)
Administrative expenses (215.7) (188.4) (118.5) (1.0) (55.1) (557.1)
Operating costs (416.8) (284.5) (255.9) 4.8) (173.3) (1,114.9)
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity
holdings 2.0 — — 96.3 — 98.3
Loan loss provisions (16.4) (241.9) 19.0 (1.8) (7.5) (248.5)
Other income (losses) (0.6) (6.6) (2.0) — (49.3) (58.4)
Profit before tax 94.2 463.2 392.1 384.7 (239.0) 1,095.8
Income tax for the period (24.4) (147.9) (127.6) (10.9) 83.3 (228.1)
Minority interests (0.6) — — — (3.2) (3.8)
Net profit 69.2 315.3 264.5 373.8 (158.9) 863.9
Cost/Income ratio (%) 79.2 28.6 40.6 n.m. n.m. 46.1
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 10,359.2 12.517.8 16,134.2 — 2,116.7 41,127.9
Risk-weighted assets 5,757.2 11,822.0 19,510.9 6,256.6 4,016.0 47,362.7
No. of staff 1,888 1,429 587 12 801 4.717
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Balance sheet

The Group’s total assets increased by 8.2%, from €72.3bn to €78.2bn. The
main balance-sheet items, of which Mediobanca S.p.A. contributes 54.7%,
showed the following trends for the twelve months under review (comparative

data as at 30 June 2018 prior to IFRS 9 FTA).

Funding - funding increased from €48.9bn to €51.4bn, reflecting the increase
in deposits in Private Banking (up from €4.9bn to €7.4bn) and CheBanca! retail
operations (up from €14.2bn to €15bn), which offset the slight reduction in debt
security funding. New issuers worth approx. €3.1bn were made during the twelve
months (around fifteen deals, including a securitization of consumer banking
receivables for €600m and a covered bond for €750m), against redemptions and
buybacks on the market totalling €3.8bn. Diversification of funding channels
and instruments, in a particularly challenging market scenario in the mid-part
of the year especially, enabled the average cost of funding to be reduced from
90 bps to 80 bps.

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

1AS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9

(€m) % (€m) % (€m) %
Debt securities (incl. ABS) 19,179.4 39% 19,185.3 39% 18,531.3 36% -3.4%
CheBanca! retail funding 14,163.0 29% 14,163.0 29% 15,032.0 29% 6.1%
Private Banking deposits 4,933.7 10% 4,933.4 10% 7,417.6 14% 50.3%
Interbank funding (+CD/CP) 5,031.5 11% 5,031.2 11% 5,484.4 11% 9.0%
LTRO 4,336.5 9% 4,336.5 9% 4,322.4 9% -0.3%
Other funding 1,249.1 2% 1,206.3 2% 605.5 1% -51.5%
Total funding 48,893.2 100% 48,855.7 100% 51,393.2 100% 5.1%

Loans and advances to customers —rose by 7.9%, from €41.1bn to €44.4bn,
with all segments contributing positively: CIB posted an increase of 10.7% in
lendings (to €17.9bn), with positive contributions from Wholesale Banking (up
11.2% to €15.6bn, on new loans totalling €5.8bn (down 21.2%) and redemptions
of €4.3bn) and Specialty Finance (up 7.8 % to €2.3bn), factoring increasing by
4.7% to €1.9bn (turnover up from €5.2bn to €6.5bn) and MBCredit Solutions
up 28% to €369m (following the acquisitions of NPLs made in the retail and
SME unsecured segments for a nominal amount of €1.5bn, against a €117.9m
outlay). Wealth Management delivered a 9.6% increase to €11.4bn, with positive

¢ For further details and full disclosure on the effects of first-time adoption of IFRS 9, which replaces IAS 39, please refer to the document entitled
“Summary of IFRS 9 accounting standard adoption” published on the Group’s website at www.mediobanca.com.
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contributions from both CheBanca! mortgage loans (up 11% to €9bn and new
loans up 11.8% to €1.8bn) and private banking clients (up 4.4% to €2.4bn).
Consumer Banking was up 5.6%, from €12.5bn to €13.2bn. Leasing continues
to gradually decrease, with leases down 8%, to €2bn.

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

IAS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9

(€m) % (€m) % (€m) %
Wholesale Banking 13,996.9 34% 14,002.0 34% 15,560.8 36% 11.2%
Specialty Finance 2,137.3 5% 2,128.5 5% 2,304.5 5% 7.8%
Consumer Banking 12,517.8 30% 12,469.8 30% 13,223.0 30% 5.6%
Retail Banking 8,107.1 20% 8,067.5 20% 9,001.9 20% 11.0%
Private Banking 2,252.1 6% 2,251.8 6% 2,351.9 5% 4.4%
Leasing 2,116.7 5% 2,099.5 5% 1,951.6 4% -7.8%
Total loans and advances
to customers 41,127.9 100% 41,019.1 100% 44,393.7 100% 7.9%

Gross NPLs reduced by 8%, from €1,943.1m to €1,782.3m, in particular in
CheBanca! mortgage lending (down 46.4%, from €332.1m to €178m, following
the sale of the former Micos Banca bad debts) and Wholesale Banking (down
2.9%, from €648m to €628.9m); they also reduced in relative terms, to 3.9% of
total loans (from 4.6% last year). Net NPLs too reduced both in absolute terms
(from €842.1m to €806m) and relative terms (from 2.1% of the total loan book
last year to 1.8%), with a coverage ratio of 54.8% (56.7%). Net bad loans halved
compared to last year, totalling €79.8m (€141.5m) and representing 0.18% of
total loans (0.35% as at 30 June 2018) with a coverage ratio of 79.7% (73.3%);
this item does not include NPLs acquired by MBCredit Solutions totalling
€368.6m (€287.9m). The figures also do not include the bad debts originated
by Micos Banca and the French branch (business discontinued at end-2009).
During the year the process for disposing of these debts was launched: in
February 2019, the entire French loan book was sold (88 loans, with a gross
book value of €14.8m), while in June agreement was reached for sale of the
Italian portfolio (1,601 loans, with a gross book value of €136.8m), booked as
“Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” pursuant to
IFRS 5 at a net value of €22.2m, and the deal was finalized after the year under
review had ended.
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30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19

IAS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
(€m)  Coverage (€m)  Coverage (€m) Coverage
ratio % ratio % ratio %
Wholesale Banking 341.7 47.3% 345.3 47.0% 384.4 38.9%
Specialty Finance 10.4 72.7% 10.2 72.8% 10.3 76.1%
Consumer Banking 186.0 73.4% 184.8 73.5% 189.0 74.4%
Retail Banking 155.1 53.3% 136.1 59.0% 102.5 42.4%
Private Banking 8.7 56.0% 9.0 56.0% 8.0 61.0%
Leasing 140.2 32.2% 124.7 39.7% 111.8 35.9%
Total net non-performing
loans 842.1 56.7% 810.1 58.5% 806.0 54.8%
— of which: bad loans 141.5 115.4 79.8
As % of total loans and
advances 2.1% 2.0% 1.8%
As % of gross total loans
and advances 4.6% 4.4% 3.9%
(€m)
30/6/19
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Wholesale Banking 14,487.2 689.2 384.4 15,560.8
Specialty Finance 1,836.4 89.2 378.9 2.304.5
Consumer Banking 11,897.9 1,136.1 189.0 13,223.0
Retail Banking 8,323.7 575.7 102.5 9,001.9
Private Banking 2,278.0 65.9 8.0 2,351.9
Leasing 1,719.7 120.1 111.8 1,951.6
Total loans and advances to customers 40,542.9 2,676.2 1,174.6 44,393.7
As % of total 91.3% 6.0% 2.7% 100%
Total loans and advances to customers (excluding
NPLs purchased by MBCredit Solutions) 40,542.9 2,676.2 806.0 44,025.1
As % of total 92.1% 6.1% 1.8% 100%

Investment holdings — as from this financial year, this heading brings together
investments covered by IAS 28, investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (formerly AFS), and funds (including seed capital)
that must be recognized at fair value through profit and loss. Investments in
associates (up from €3,210.8m to €3,259.8m) consist almost entirely of the
Assicurazioni Generali investment, the value of which rose from €3,171.4m
to €3,219.3m, on profits of €320m (adjusted to reflect the €182.4m dividend
collected), and lower valuation reserves of €89.7m. The Group’s stake in the
Istituto Europeo di Oncologia reflected a value of €40.5m (€39.4m), as a result of
a pro rata increase in the Institute’s profits (€1.2m). Equities (listed and unlisted)
reduced from €260.5m to €138.6m, following sales of equities totalling €145.3m
(yielding gains of €3.7m taken directly through other comprehensive income)
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and downward adjustments to reflect fair value at the period-end totalling €4.2m
(also taken through OCI). Movements in seed capital reflect net investments
of €74.6m, and net gains of €3.3m (taken through profit and loss); while other
funds, including private equity, declined slightly, from €177.3m to €168.4m,
after losses charged to earnings of €3.1m (covered by €4.9m in dividends) and
net redemptions totalling €5.8m.

(€m)

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19
Book value AFS Book value HTC&S Book value HTC&S
reserve reserve reserve
T1AS28 investments 3.210.8 — 3,210.8 — 3.259.8 —
Listed shares 239.3 51.3 239.3 51.3 102.6 52.6
Other unlisted shares 21.6 5.8 21.6 5.8 36.0 12.2
Seed capital 334.2 7.1 334.2 — 413.5 —
Private equity 71.5 23.2 71.5 — 60.1 —
Other funds 105.7 6.8 105.6 — 102.3 —
Total equity holdings 3,983.1 94.2 3,983.0 57.1 3,980.3 64.8

The Group’s stake in Assicurazioni Generali (representing 12.92% of the
company’s share capital) is booked at a value which is below the stock market

price as at 28 June 2019 (€3,356.9m) and current prices (€3,356.9m).

(€m)

% share capital 30/6/18 30/6/19
Assicurazioni Generali 12.92 3,171.4 3.219.3
Burgo 22.13 — —
Istituto Europeo di Oncologia 25.37 39.4 40.5
Total IAS28 investments 3,210.8 3,259.8

Banking book bonds — this heading comprises both debt securities recognized
at cost and those measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(OCI), plus those bonds which under IFRS 9 must be measured at fair value
through profit and loss.

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19

(€ém) % (€m) % (€m) %
Hold to Collect 4,949.7 64% 3,443.2 43% 2,892.0 43%
Hold to Collect & Sell 2,795.0 36% 4,442.7 56% 3,748.2 56%
Other (mandatorily measured at FV) — n.a. 57.8 1% 55.7 1%
Total banking book securities 7,744.7 100% 7,943.7 100% 6,695.9 100%
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The portfolio shows a value of €6.7bn, following purchases of €5.7bn and
sales and redemptions totalling €7bn which includes some profit-taking; the OCI
reserve was positive, at €36.2m (30/6/18: €64.4m), despite reflecting €58.3bn in

sales for the period, and upward adjustments at the period-end totalling €25.6m.

Government securities total €4.6bn (or 69% of the total portfolio), almost
half of which (€2.2bn) is Italian sovereign debt with a duration of three years,
and an OCI reserve in positive territory at €4.8m.

Hold-to-collect securities recognized at cost reflect unrealized gains of

€52m (€20m as at 30 June 2018).

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19
Book value AFS Book value oc1 Book value oc1
reserve reserve reserve
AFS HTM - LR HTC HTC&S HTC HTC&S
Ttalian government bonds 1,132.1  1,6129 19.6 1,296.5 1,456.9 252 1,088.6 1,161.3 4.8
Foreign government bonds 739.3 1,931.2 14.5 848.3 1,821.6 135 644.9  1,701.8 5.0
Bond issued by financial
institutions 580.1 949.7  14.3 800.0 849.3 1255 864.2 663.3 15.6
Corporate bonds 343.5 4559  16.0 498.4 3149 11.6 294.3 221.8  10.8
Total banking book
securities 2,795.0 4,949.7 64.4 3,443.2 4,442.7 62.8 2,892.0 3,748.2 36.2

Net treasury funds — these rose from €4,810.3m to €5,342.5m, with a view to
preserving a substantial liquidity provision in a period of strong volatility and
uncertainty on the Italian domestic market in particular. The heading comprises
equity holdings worth €2,620.4m (€1,658.3m), hedged by derivatives, the
valuation of which contributes €955.7m to the overall total, cash and liquid
assets of €1,510.2m (€1,969.2m), and other net deposits (including repos)
totalling €2,094.4m (€1,098.5m).

(€m)
30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9

Financial assets held for trading 8,204.9 8,008.5 9,765.7 19.0 %
Treasury financial assets 8.358.2 8.358.0 10,170.2 21.7%
Financial liabilities held for trading (6,462.4) (6,462.4) (8,027.8) 24.2%
Treasury financial liabilities (5,290.4) (5,290.4) (6,565.6) 24.1%
Net treasury assets 4,810.3 4,613.7 5,342.5 11.1%
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(€m)

30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

IAS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
Loan trading 25.0 25.0 6.9 -72.4%
Derivative contract valuations (253.4) (253.4) (955.7) n.m.
Equities 1,658.3 1,658.3 2,620.4 58.0%
Bond securities 312.7 116.1 60.3 -78.8%
Financial instruments held for trading 1,742.6 1,546.0 1,737.9 -0.3%
(€m)
30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

IAS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
Cash and banks 1,969.2 1,969.2 1,510.2 -23.3%
REPOs (605.1) (605.1) 2,140.3 n.m.
Financial assets deposits 426.9 426.9 61.0 -85.7%
Stock lending 1,276.7 1.276.7 (106.9) n.m.
Other net treasury assets 3,067.7 3,067.7 3,604.6 17.5%

Tangible and intangible assets — this item increased from €1,027.7m to
€1,187.6m, due chiefly to goodwill being recorded in connection with the Messier
Maris & Associés’ acquisition for €149m, plus the “Messier Maris” brand
previously booked to the company’s own accounts in an amount of €17m. During
the twelve months under review, the purchase price allocation process for the RAM
acquisition made in February 2018 was completed, resulting in identification of
a brand (considered as having an indefinite lifetime with an estimated fair value
of €37.7m) and an AUM management contract (with a fair value of €2.4m, to be
amortized over five years), which, net of the deferred tax, is balanced by the lower
goodwill attributable (€155m, net of exchange rate adjustments). It should also
be noted that the sale of Spafid’s Market Connect business to Norwegian listed
company Infront generated a reduction in the goodwill, from €12.8m to €9m.
There were also depreciation and amortization charges totalling €44.2m, and
acquisitions of other tangible assets amounting to €10m.

Following a careful internal assessment process, no items showed any
evidence of impairment.

“The acquisition of Messier Maris was finalized on 10 April 2019. Under the terms of the agreement, a 66.4% stake was acquired and a put-and-
call agreement entered into, which will allow the Bank to increase its interest to 100% if exercised. Under IFRS 3 the buyer has twelve months
in which to complete the purchase price allocation process, hence the valuation of goodwill used here is provisional.
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30/6/18 30/6/19 Chg.
(€m) % (€m) %
Land and properties 262.3 26% 256.7 22% -2.1%
- of which: core 184.9 18% 181.8 15% -1.7%
Other tangible assets 25.5 2% 29.1 3% 14.1%
Goodwill 649.8 63% 772.4 65% 18.9%
Other intangible assets 90.1 9% 129.4 10% 43.6%
Total tangible and intangible assets 1,027.7 100% 1,187.6 100% 15.6%
(€m)
Transaction 30/6/18 30/6/19
Compass-Linea 365.9 365.9
Spafid 12.8 9.0
Cairn Capital 41.9 41.4
Banca Esperia Private Banking 52.1 52.1
RAM 177.0 155.0
MMA — 149.0
Total goodwill 649.7 772.4

An updated list of the core properties owned by the Group is provided below:

30/6/19
Squ. m Book Book value
value per squ.m
(€m) (€ 000)
Milan:
— Piazzetta Enrico Cuccia n. 1 * 9,318 14.8 1.6
— Via Filodrammatici n. 1, 3, 5, 7 - Piazzetta Bossi n. 1 -

Piazza Paolo Ferrari n. 6 * 13,390 62.7 4.7
— Foro Buonaparte n. 10 * 2,926 8.7 3.0
— Via Siusi n. 1-7 22,608 24.9 1.1
Rome ** 1,790 8.1 4.5
Vicenza 4,239 5.0 1.2
Luxembourg 442 3.8 8.6
Monaco 4,576 52.4 11.5
Other minor properties 3,611 1.4 0.4
Total 62,900 181.8

* After updating the related plans.

#% The Piazza di Spagna property, carried at a book value of 24.9m, is used only in part by Mediobanca and has therefore not been included

among the core assets.

Investment properties were worth €74.9m (30/6/18: €77.4m), following
depreciation of €1.9m and €9.1m in assets collected under leasing agreements

being restated as “Tangible asset inventories” (in accordance with TAS 2); no

new properties were acquired or sold during the period.
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Provisions — as from this year, this heading includes provisions set aside to
meet commitments to disburse funds and financial guarantees issued, in a total
amount of €10.5m. Provisions for risks and charges decreased from €185.5m
to €150.1m, and regard Mediobanca as to €96.2m (€95.8m), CheBanca! as to
€32.9m (€59m), and SelmaBipiemme as to €10.3m (€9.4m). Withdrawals from
provisions totalling €40.3m were made during the period, chiefly by CheBanca!
(€26.4m), as part of restructuring following the Barclays acquisition, and by
Compass (€6.6m) from the redundancy provision; new transfers to provisions
totalled €4.9m, €2.8m of which regards leasing.

30/6/18 30/6/19 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Commitments and financial guarantees given * N/A N/A 10.5 6% N/A
Provisions for risks and charges 185.5 87% 150.1 79% -19.1%
Staff severance indemnity provision 27.5 13% 29.7 16% 8.0%
of which: staff severance provision discount 2.2 — 3.7 — 68.2%
Total provision 213.0 100% 190.3 100% -10.7%

* Following the fifth update to Bank of Italy circular 262/2005, total amounts set aside in respect of commitments to disburse funds and guarantees
issued, which previously were accounted for as “Other liabilities™, are now treated as “Provisions for risks and charges”.

Net equity — net equity increased from €9,644.3m to €9,809.2m, reflecting
profit for the period (€823m), most of which was absorbed by the negative

movements in other components, as follows:
— Distribution of the dividend for FY 2017-18 (€411.2m);

—  First-time adoption (FTA)? of the new reporting standards on financial
instruments (IFRS 9) and revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15),
impacting negatively on net equity by €80.9m and €4m respectively;

—  Launch of the share buyback scheme approved by shareholders at the annual
general meeting held on 27 October 2018, with 20.1 million shares acquired
for an outlay of €162.5m” and 13.4 million shares used, 11.6 million of
which to acquire Messier Maris & Associés and 1.8 million in connection
with the performance share schemes; including the shares already owned at
30 June 2018, a total of 15.3 million treasury shares are now held, equal to
1.7% of the Group’s share capital;

—  The lower valuation reserves (which were from €764.3m to €597.5m) reflect
the reduction in financial assets measured at FVOCI (down €15.9m),

See Part A of the Notes to the Accounts for further details.

A further 99,500 shares have been purchased since the reporting date (for €0.9m).
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application of the equity method to the Assicurazioni Generali investment
(from €663.7m to €560.6m), and the increase in the negative cash flow hedge
reserve (from €15.7m to €45m, due to market rate and volume trends).

The Group’s share capital increased from €443.3m to €443.6m, following the
exercise of 642,500 stock options with a total value of €4.2m, including the share
premium; a total of 1,827,063 performance shares were also awarded during the
period under review, from the treasury shares already owned by the Bank.

(€m)
30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

1AS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
Share capital 443.3 443.3 443.6 0.1%
Other reserves 7,572.8 7,510.8 7,945.1 4.9%
Valuation reserves 764.3 746.5 597.5 -21.8%
- of which: OCI 121.5 100.5 84.6 -30.4%
cash flow hedge (15.7) (12.5) (45.0) n.m.
equity investments 663.7 663.7 560.6 -15.5%
Profit for the period 863.9 863.9 823.0 -4.7%
Total Group net equity 9,644.3 9,564.5 9,809.2 1.7%

The OCI reserve involves equities as to €64.8m, and bonds and other
securities as to €36.2m (€4.8m of which Italian government securities), net of
the tax effect of €16.4m.

(€m)
30/6/18 1/7/18 30/6/19 Chg.

1AS 39 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
Equity shares 94.2 56.3 64.8 -31.2%
Bonds 64.3 70.7 36.2 -43.7%
of which: Italian government bonds 19.6 25.2 4.8 -75.6%
Tax effect (37.0) (26.5) (16.4) -55.4%
Total OCI reserve 121.5 100.5 84.6 -30.4%
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Profit and loss account

Net interest income — net interest income rose by 2.7%, from €1,359.4m to
€1,395.6m. reflecting good performances by all business lines, in particular
Consumer Banking (up 3.5%, on higher volumes with profitability largely
resilient) which contributes nearly two-thirds of the total. The performance of
Specialty Finance was especially impressive, posting growth of 22.9% split
equally between factoring and NPL portfolio management. The 4.5% reduction
in net interest income earned by Wholesale Banking (down from €198.5m to
€189.6m) reflects repositioning in favour of higher-rated clients in a scenario
of strongly reducing spreads. The liability run on treasury operations increased
slightly, from €82.9m to €87.4m, despite the improved cost of funding (down
from 90 bps to 80 bps), due to the effect of the negative market interest rates on
the substantial short-term liquidity position.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.
30/6/18 30/6/19

Consumer Banking 868.8 898.8 3.5%
Wealth Management 255.2 260.2 2.0%
Corporate and Investment Banking 266.1 272.7 2.5%
Holding Functions and other (including intercompany) (30.7) (36.1) 17.6%
Net interest income 1,359.4 1,395.6 2.7%

Net treasury income — net treasury income increased from €157.4m to
€196.7m, due to the higher contribution from Capital Market Solutions activity
which totalled €130.4m (€82.3m) and higher revenues from the portfolio
managed by the centralized Group treasury of €45.2m (€13.6m); these were
only partly offset by the proprietary trading portfolio, which delivered a negative
result due to the market instability seen in the second half of the financial year.

Dividends on OCI equities and other income from funds declined from
€22.1m to €18.5m. The fixed-income segment increased from €79.6m to
€120.2m, chiefly due to the banking book contribution of €60.1m (€14.7m),
while the equity segment was basically stable at €58m (€55.7m).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Dividends 22.1 18.5 -16.3%
Fixed income trading profit 79.6 120.2 51.0%
of which: banking book 14.7 60.1 n.m.
Equity trading profit 55.7 58.0 4.1%
Net treasury 157.4 196.7 25.0%
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Net fee and commission income — net fees declined from €622.2m to
€611.2m, reflecting the performance in capital market activities, which, in line
with the market, halved from €65.8m to €28.9m. Net of this fees would have
increased by 4%, due principally to growth in Wealth Management (up 8.6%,
from €258.7m to €280.9m) and Corporate Finance (up 35.3%, from €64.7m to
€87.5m), with Consumer Banking and Specialty Finance basically stable. Wealth
Management now contributes 46% of the Group’s fee income, despite a reduction
in performance fees (from €12m to €2.9m), helped by the consolidation of RAM
which added €19.7m (being consolidated for twelve rather than four months as
last year) and by growth in CheBanca! management fees (up 7.5%), Mediobanca
Private Banking (up 1%) and CMB (up 2%). Fee income earned from Wholesale
Banking operations decreased from €207.3m to €178.6m, reflecting the trends
in capital market and lending activities, despite the performance of Corporate
Finance which as from this quarter includes MMA, contributing €5.3m.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.
30/6/18 30/6/19

Wealth Management 258.7 280.9 8.6%
Wholesale Banking 207.3 178.6 -13.8%
Consumer Banking 127.4 128.1 0.5%
Specialty Finance 47.1 49.0 4.0%
Holding Functions and other (including intercompany) (18.3) (25.4) 38.8%
Net fee and commission income 622.2 611.2 -1.8%

Equity-accounted companies — the €321.2m profit reported by the
equity-accounted companies (€280.3m) reflects the higher contribution by
Assicurazioni Generali, which increased from €279.9m to €320m, plus the
marginal contribution from the IEO of €1.2m (€0.4m).

Operating costs — operating costs rose by 4.2%, from €1,114.9m to €1,161.9m, due
chiefly to the increased scope of consolidation (RAM added €13m and MMA €5.4m),
and were split equally between labour costs (up 4.3%, or 1.9% on a like-for-like basis)
and administrative expenses (up 4.1% and 3% respectively). Ordinary growth of 2.6%
was concentrated in Consumer Banking, with 18 new Compass agencies and higher
credit recovery expenses, due to higher volumes, and in Wealth Management (with the
addition of 48 new bankers and 23 new CheBanca!, POS, plus costs linked to the FAs
network expansion and strengthening). Administrative expenses reflect growth of 17%
in IT costs due to regulatory projects (MiFID II, IFRS 9, AIRB) and work required
to develop the business platforms (Group Treasury, CRM and e-commerce) and to
increase digitalization at branch offices.
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(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Labour costs 557.8 581.7 4.3%
of which: directors 8.0 9.8 22.5%
stock option and performance share schemes 7.8 12.0 53.8%
Sundry operating costs and expenses 557.1 580.2 4.1%
of which: depreciation and amortizations 43.9 43.0 -2.1%
administrative expenses 512.1 533.0 4.1%
Operating costs 1,114.9 1,161.9 4.2%
(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Legal, tax and professional services 16.8 10.5 -37.5%
Other consultancy expenses 45.7 48.8 6.8%
Credit recovery activities 50.4 55.6 10.3%
Marketing and communication 47.7 42.3 -11.3%
Rent and property maintenance 52.6 53.2 1.1%
EDP 107.6 125.9 17.0%
Financial information subscriptions 37.6 41.0 9.0%
Bank services, collection and payment commissions 19.7 21.6 9.6%
Operating expenses 65.6 63.6 -3.0%
Other labour costs 23.5 22.5 -4.3%
Other costs 25.0 25.8 3.2%
Direct and indirect taxes 19.9 22.2 11.6%
Total administrative expenses 512.1 533.0 4.1%

Gains (losses) on investment holdings — in the financial statements as at 30
June 2018, this heading included gains and losses realized on disposal of AFS
equities amounting to €98.3m, which as from this year no longer pass through
profit and loss.

Loan loss provisions — these decreased by 10%, from €247.2m to €222.6m,
and reflect a cost of risk at an all-time low of 52 bps (62 bps). In Wholesale
Banking net writebacks of €62.7m were credited (€44m), following a reduction
in provisioning (due in part to collections) for certain UTP positions which
reflect ongoing earnings and financial improvement. Provisioning for Consumer
Banking decreased slightly from €241.9m to €237.8m, which, given the higher
volumes, drove the cost of risk down to 185 bps (versus 199 bps last year). Wealth
Management reduced its impact on profit and loss from €16.4m to €11.8m (with
the cost of risk reducing from 16 bps to 11 bps), on the back of a widespread
improvement in the mortgage loan book and business with collateralized clients.
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Conversely, there were increases in Specialty Finance (from €25.7m to €26.5m)
for the higher NPLs acquired, and leasing (from €7.3m to €8.6m).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.
30/6/18 30/6/19

Wholesale Banking (44.0) (62.7) 42.5%
Specialty Finance 25.7 26.5 3.1%
Consumer Banking 241.9 237.8 -1.7%
Wealth Management 16.4 11.8 -28.0%
Holding Functions 72 9.2 27.8%
Loan loss provisions 247.2 222.6 -10.0%
Cost of risk (bps) 62 52 -16.1%

Provisions for other financial assets —under IFRS 9, the impairment process
applies to all financial assets (securities, repos, deposits and current accounts)
recognized at cost (the “Hold to collect” model) and to all bonds recognized
at fair value through other comprehensive income (the “Hold to collect and
sell” model). For the twelve months under review, application of these models
impacted on earnings in an amount of €1.3m. This heading also reflects the
valuations of other mandatory financial assets (other than loans), totalling €0.8m.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Hold-to-Collect securities (3.4) 0.5 n.m.
Hold-to-Collect & Sell securities 4.7 0.8 -83.0%
Others — 0.8 n.m.
Total 1.3 2.1 61.5%

Income tax — income tax for the twelve months totalled €256.5m, at an effective
tax rate of 23.7%, slightly higher than last year’s figures of €228.1m and 20.82%
respectively, due to the reduced percentage of PEX income and the effect of
intercompany dividends.

Mediobanca (as consolidating entity) has adopted tax consolidation, which
includes Compass Banca, SelmaBipiemme Leasing, MIS, CheBanca!, MBCredit
Solutions, Spafid Connect and Futuro. Relations between the consolidating and
consolidated entities are governed by bilateral agreements regulating cash flows,
exchanges of information and the individual companies’ responsibilities versus
the revenue authorities.
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Balance-sheet/profit-and-loss data by division

WEALTH MANAGEMENT

This division brings together all asset administration and management

services offered to the following client segments:

—  Affluent & Premier (CheBanca!);

— Private & High Net Worth Individuals (Mediobanca Private Banking,
Mediobanca SGR and Spafid in Italy, Compagnie Monégasque de Banque
in the Principality of Monaco; Cairn Capital, alternative asset management

in London; Mediobanca Management Company in Luxembourg; and RAM

Active Investments in Geneva).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che. (%)
30/6/18 30/6/19
Profit-and-loss TAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 255.2 260.2 2.0
Net trading income 12.1 6.2 -48.8
Net fee and commission income 258.7 280.9 8.6
Total income 526.0 547.3 4.0
Labour costs (201.1) (221.8) 10.3
Administrative expenses (215.7) (212.2) -1.6
Operating costs (416.8) (434.0) 4.1
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity holdings 2.0 — n.m.
Loan loss provisions (16.4) (11.8) -28.0
Provisions for other financial assets — 0.3 n.m.
Other income (losses) (0.6) 0.6 n.m.
Profit before tax 94.2 102.4 8.7
Income tax for the period (24.4) (28.7) 17.6
Minority interest 0.6) (2.5) n.m.
Net profit 69.2 71.2 2.9
Cost/Income ratio (%) 79.2 79.3
30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 10,359.2 11.353.8
Loans 1,594.0 1.782.6
No. of staff 1,888 1,936
Risk-weighted assets 5,757.2 4,533.8
30/6/18 30/6/19
AUM/AUA 37,108.2 38,964.2
AUC 7,646.8 6,461.5
Direct funding 19,096.5 22,449.5
Total assets under management, advice and custody 63,851.5 67,875.2
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CHEBANCA!

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss TIAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 212.0 210.6 -0.7
Net treasury income 0.8 0.8 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 79.7 85.7 7.5
Total income 292.5 297.1 1.6
Labour costs (102.6) (105.8) 3.1
Administrative expenses (132.7) (130.5) -1.7
Operating costs (235.3) (236.3) 0.4
Loan loss provisions (16.5) (13.7) -17.0
Profit before tax 40.7 47.1 15.7
Tncome tax for the period (13.0) (15.6) 20.0
Net profit 27.7 31.5 13.7

Cost/Income ratio (%) 80.4 79.5

Over the three years of the plan, CheBanca! has definitively evolved from
deposit-gatherer to asset-gatherer, becoming a key player in the Italian wealth
management industry in the affluent-premier client segment. This achievement
has been accompanied by a major transformation in terms of scale: CheBanca!
today has a network of 780 advisors, five times the figures reported at end-June
2016: 445 relationship managers (29 added in twelve months, 275 since 2016)
now work alongside 335 FAs (compared with none three years ago). It also has
a wide and strongly increasing client base (865,000 clients, versus 807,000 at
end-June 2018, and 570,000 at end-June 2016) with banking activity strongly
concentrated in remote channels (97% of money transfers, 95% of tied deposit
accounts through digital channels; 95% of payments/withdrawals via ATM).
The “open-guided” investment platform has been enriched by the addition
of new funds such as Mediobanca Global Multiasset (MGM), Mediobanca
Long Short Sector Rotation, and Mediobanca Defensive Portfolio, as well as
placement of the Mediobanca High Yield Credit Portfolio 2025 fund as part of
the co-operation with Mediobanca SGR. In June 2019 the bank’s first artificial
intelligence application was launched, a chatbot to respond to chats from clients
and non-clients, which in its first month of operation answered 56% of client
requests autonomously.

Net profit was up 13.7% in the twelve months, to €31.5m, on revenues of

€297.1m (an increase of 1.6%), operating costs basically flat (up just 0.4%), and
loan loss provisions declining.
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The increase in revenues, from €292.5m to €297.1m, reflects the healthy
performance in fee income which offset the reduction in net interest income.
The main income items performed as follows:

— Net interest income was down 0.7%, from €212m to €210.6m, helped by an
11% increase in mortgage lending volumes, but at the same time adversely
affected by lower returns (due chiefly to early repayments) and a slight increase
in the cost of funding (from 41 bps to 43 bps following promotional offers);

—  Fees were up 7.5%, from €79.7m to €85.7m, reflecting 16% growth in
asset management fees, from €52.9m to €61.1m including fees paid back
to FAs, with over 90% recurring; bank commissions increased from €28.2m
to €30.9m, while acquisition costs rose from €1.4m to €6.3m following the
arrival of 109 new FAs.

Labour costs rose grew from €102.6m to €105.8m, in line with the distribution
structure enhancement (with 29 new bankers added, mostly concentrated in
2H), almost entirely compensated by the reduction in administrative expenses
to €130.5m (€132.7m) which also absorbed the franchise development (a total
of 23 new branches were opened during the period).

Loan loss provisions were down 17%, from €16.5m to €13.7m, helped by
lower new NPLs plus the risk parameters being adapted to the new internal
models, and also reflect the net losses deriving from the disposal of bad debts
generated by the former Micos Banca; the cost of risk fell from 21 bps to 16 bps.

30/6/18 30/6/19
AUM/AUA 8,435.1 10,333.8
Direct funding 14,163.0 15,032.1
Total assets under management 22,598.1 25,365.9

Total financial assets (“TFAs”) rose by 12.2% to €25.4bn, €15bn of which
in deposits (up 6.1%) and €10.3bn in AUM/AUA (up 22.5%). Net New Money
(“NNM”) totalled €2.6bn, €0.9bn of which direct and €1.7bn in AUM/AUA,
with a growing trend in the two half-years (€1bn in 1H, €1.6bn in 2H). AUM
and AUA totalled €1.9bn, reflecting the market effect (€133m) and deposit
conversion (€364m). Growth in volumes derives from balanced contribution
from the main distribution channels, namely the proprietary network (TFAs
€22.2bn) and FAs (TFAs €3.1bn, €2bn of which is in AUM/AUA). Current
accounts totalled €8.8bn (up 17%, almost 60% of total direct funding), whereas
deposit accounts decreased by 6% to €6.2bn.
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30/6/18 30/6/19

Balance-sheet data

Loans and advances to customers 8,107.1 9,001.9
New loans 1,594.0 1,782.6
No. of branches 111 110
No. of staff 1,321 1,364
Risk-weighted assets 3,713.8 2,581.5

Mortgage loans climbed from €8.1bn to €9bn, on new mortgage loans of
€1.8bn (up 11.8% on the €1.6bn reported last year) and early repayments
declining slightly to €604.5m. Asset quality remained at excellent levels: gross
NPLs declined from €332.1m to €178m, accounting for 2% of total loans (versus
4%); net NPLs declined from €155.1m to €102.5m and account for 1.1% of net
total loans, with a coverage ratio of 42.4% compared with 53.3% last year. Net
NPLs totalled €39.9m (0.4% of the total net loan book), with a coverage ratio of
56.9% (60.9%). These figures reflect the bad loans attributable to the French
branch (business discontinued at end-2009), which were sold, and the former
Micos Banca loans in the process of being sold. In February the entire French
loan book was sold (consisting of 88 loans with a gross book value of €14.8m),
while in June 2019 agreement was reached to sell the Italian portfolio (1,601
loans with a gross book value of €136.8m) which has been booked as “Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” pursuant to IFRS 5 at
their estimated realizable value (€22.2m).
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PRIVATE BANKING

This division comprises Mediobanca Private Banking, Compagnie
Monégasque de Banque, Spafid, Mediobanca SGR, Mediobanca Management
Company, Cairn Capital and RAM Active Investments (Alternative AM).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss TAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 43.2 49.6 14.8
Net treasury income 11.3 5.4 -52.2
Net fee and commission income 179.0 195.2 9.1
Total income 233.5 250.2 7.2
Labour costs (98.5) (116.0) 17.8
Administrative expenses (83.0) (81.7) -1.6
Operating costs (181.5) (197.7) 8.9
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity holdings 2.0 — n.m.
Loan loss provisions 0.1 1.9 n.m.
Provisions for other financial assets — 0.3 n.m.
Other income (losses) (0.6) 0.6 n.m.
Profit before tax 53.5 55.3 3.4
Income tax for the period (11.4) (13.1) 14.9
Minority interests (0.6) (2.5) n.m.
Net profit 41.5 39.7 -4.3

Cost/Income ratio (%) 777 79.0

Private Banking delivered a gross operating profit of €55.3m, up 3.4% on
last year. The change in contributions from the different companies drove an
increase in the tax burden and minority interest, reducing the division’s net

profit from €41.5m to €39.7m.

Revenues were up 7.2%, from €233.5m to €250.2m, due in particular to
9.1% growth in fees (up 9.1%, €179m to €195.2m), boosted by the enlarged
scope of operations' (which added €15m), partially offset by the reduction
in performance fees (from €9.5m to €1.9m);"" net of these items growth of 6%
would have been reported (from €135.1m to €143.3m), an impressive result if
the market scenario and clients’ scarce propensity to invest are considered.

'Y RAM’s figures refer to the full twelve months rather than four last year, resulting in a €20.3m increase, from €15.4m to €35.7m, whereas from 1
January 2019 the figures for Spafid refer exclusively to financial services (which added approx. €5m in twelve months), as the corporate services
business performed by Spafid Connect has been transferred to the Holding Functions division following the sale of the Market Connect business
unit to Norwegian listed company Infront.

""'Net of RAM.
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Growth in net interest income (up 14.8%, from €43.2m to €49.6m), linked
to the profitability of deposits in USD held by CMB clients, offset the reduction
in net treasury income (from €11.3m to €5.4m) again attributable to CMB, due
to lower profits on the banking book and broking with clients.

Operating costs rose by 8.9%, from €181.5m to €197.7m, reflecting 17.8%
growth in labour costs (from €98.5m to €116m) relating to RAM coming fully
onstream (adding €9.4m) and to enhancement of structures and the distribution
network; in particular, four bankers joined Mediobanca Private Banking, five
joined Mediobanca SGR, and a new management team was installed at CMB.
By contrast, administrative expenses decreased from €83m to €81.7m, despite

the increase due to RAM (which added €3.9m).

30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 2,252.1 2,351.9
No. of staff 567 572
Risk-weighted assets 2,043.4 1,952.3

30/6/18 30/6/19
AUM/AUA 28,673.1 28,630.4
AUC 7,646.8 6.461.5
Direct funding 4,933.5 74174
Total assets under management 41,253.4 42,509.3

TFAs grew from €41.3bn to €42.5bn in the twelve months, of which €7.4bn
in deposits (€4.9bn), €28.6bn in AUM and AUA (€28.7bn), and €6.5bn in
assets under custody (€7.6bn). Net new money in the twelve months amounted
to €2.2bn, with positive contributions from Mediobanca Private Banking (up
€2.3bn) and Cairn (up €730m) offsetting the outflows recorded by RAM (€914m)
concentrated in 2H. These results reflect a weak 4() (with net outflows of €855m),
the closure of certain low-margin mandates (€330m in institutional mandates
and €340m in AUC), and outflows recorded by RAM (€480m), only in part offset
by the contribution of Private Banking (up €260m).
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By individual unit, CMB contributed a net profit of €27.5m, on revenues
of €95.6m (€95m), costs of €62.5m (€59.5m), and tax of €6.1m (€5.7m); TFAs
amounted to €10.bn, €3.4bn of which related to deposits and Net New Money
for the 12 months equal to €308m. Mediobanca Private Banking and the
asset management companies delivered a net profit of €11.2m, with revenues
increasing (from €85.7m to €88.5m), despite lower performance fees of €1.7m
(€4.7m), with costs largely unchanged at €73m (€71.7m); TFAs totalled €21.2bn,
€4bn of which in deposits (NNM €2.3bn, €2.1bn of which cash and liquid
assets). RAM reported a profit of €7.9m (net of minority interest totalling €2.4m),
on revenues of €35.7m and costs of €21.5m; TFAs decreased from €4.1bn to
€3.1bn, reflecting the outflows mentioned above. Cairn Capital contributed
revenues of €16.3m (€18.2m), which reflects the absence of performance fees
(€2.3m) and reduced advisory business of €1.3m (€2.6m), with costs rising from
€19.5m to €22.3m due to a retention scheme. TFAs totalled €4bn (NNM €730m,
€365m of which in CLOs). Spafid reported revenues of €14.1m and a bottom line
at breakeven following the transfer of the remaining Spafid Connect activities
(corporate services) to the Holding Functions.
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CONSUMER BANKING

This division provides retail clients with the full range of consumer credit
products: personal and special-purpose loans, and salary-backed finance
(Compass Banca and Futuro). The division also includes Compass RE, which
reinsures risks linked to insurance policies sold to clients.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss IAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 868.8 898.8 3.5
Net fee and commission income 127.4 128.1 0.5
Total income 996.2 1.026.9 3.1
Labour costs (96.1) (99.4) 3.4
Administrative expenses (188.4) (194.1) 3.0
Operating costs (284.5) (293.5) 3.2
Loan loss provisions (241.9) (237.8) -1.7
Other income (losses) (6.6) — n.m.
Profit before tax 463.2 495.6 7.0
Tncome tax for the period (147.9) (159.2) 7.6
Net profit 315.3 336.4 6.7

Cost/Income ratio (%) 28.6 28.6

The division delivered a net profit of €336.4m in the twelve months, up
6.7% on last year (€315.3m), after revenues of €1,026.9m (up 3.1%), costs of
€293.5m (up 3.2%) and loan loss provisions totalling €237.8m (down 1.7%).

Revenues beat their all-time high, breaking through the €1bn mark for the
first time, and now account for over 40% of the Group’s top line. The main
income sources performed as follows:

— Net interest income grew from €868.8m to €898.8m (up 3.5%), due to higher
average volumes (up 6.1%) with margins largely resilient;

— Net fee income was unchanged at €128.1m (€127.4m), with the higher
rappel fees paid to partners (up 8%) offset by the healthy performances in
consumer credit product distribution and management.

Costs were up 3.2%, due to enhancement of the distribution network (a total
of eighteen new POS were opened during the period, both proprietary branches
and agencies) and IT projects supporting the business and for regulatory reasons

(chiefly AIRB models).
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Loan loss provisions decreased from €241.9m to €237.8m (down 1.7%), with
the annualized cost of risk improving to 185bps (vs 199bps last year) without
affecting the coverage levels.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 12,517.8 13,223.0
New loans 7,025.1 7,350.0
No. of branches 181 199
No. of staff 1,429 1,427
Risk-weighted assets 11,822.0 12,564.1

Net loans increased from €12.5bn to €13.2bn, with new loans for the twelve
months rising from €7bn to €7.4bn (up 4.6%); personal loans account for approx.
57% of the stock, while salary-backed finance amounts to just over €2bn (up
3%). Gross NPLs increased from €698.5m to €737.7m in absolute terms, but
still account for 5.2% of the total loan book (unchanged); net NPLs totalled
€189m (1.4% of total loans), at a coverage ratio of 74.4% (73.4%). Net bad debts
amounted to €13.7m, representing just 0.1% of total loans (also unchanged) and
reflecting a coverage ratio of 94.3% (93.9%). The coverage ratio for performing
loans has increased since the introduction of IFRS 9 from 2.65% to 3.02%, with
stage 2 items accounting for 8.6% of the total loan book (covered as to 20.7%).
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CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANKING

This division provides services to customers in the following areas:

—  Wholesale Banking: CIB client business (lending, capital market activities
and advisory services) and proprietary trading, performed by Mediobanca,
Mediobanca International, Mediobanca Securities and Messier Maris &
Associés;

—  Specialty Finance, factoring and credit management (including acquisition
and management of NPL portfolios), performed by MBFACTA and MBCredit

Solutions.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. %

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss TAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 266.1 272.7 2.5
Net treasury income 110.5 126.8 14.8
Net fee and commission income 254.4 227.6 -10.5
Total income 631.0 627.1 -0.6
Labour costs (137.4) (139.4) 1.5
Administrative expenses (118.5) (129.9) 9.6
Operating costs (255.9) (269.3) 5.2
Loan loss provisions 18.3 36.2 n.m.
Provisions for other financial assets 0.7 0.9 28.6
Other income (losses) (2.0 — n.m.
Profit before tax 392.1 394.9 0.7
Income tax for the period (127.6) (129.1) 1.2
Net profit 264.5 265.8 0.5

Cost/Income ratio (%) 40.6 42.9

30/6/18 30/6/19

Balance-sheet data

Loans and advances to customers 16,134.2 17,865.3

New loans 12,686.0 12,374.1

No. of staff 587 621

Risk-weighted assets 19,510.9 20,065.8
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WHOLESALE BANKING

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss TIAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 198.5 189.6 -4.5
Net treasury income 110.5 126.7 14.7
Net fee and commission income 207.3 178.6 -13.8
Total income 516.3 494.9 -4.1
Labour costs (121.0) (122.8) 1.5
Administrative expenses (91.4) (97.4) 6.6
Operating costs (212.4) (220.2) 3.7
Loan loss provisions 44.0 62.7 42.5
Provisions for other financial assets 0.7 0.5 -28.6
Other income (losses) (2.0) — n.m.
Profit before tax 346.6 337.9 -2.5
Income tax for the period (112.8) (110.6) -2.0
Net profit 233.8 227.3 -2.8

Cost/Income ratio (%) 41.1 44.5

A net profit of €227.3m was earned from Wholesale Banking operations
for the twelve months, largely unchanged from last year but with differing
contributions: outstanding performances from client activity (corporate finance
up 35%; CMS up 42%), compared with a substantial reduction in capital
markets (down 56%) and proprietary trading, which were affected by the trend
in spreads and market interest rates; while lending showed a reduction which
was still better than expected.

In this scenario, revenues were down 4.1%, from €516.3m to €494.9m, and
reflect the following performances:

— Net interest income decreased by 4.5%, from €198.5m to €189.6m, on
growth in the loan book versus clients of higher standing (but yielding lower
margins);

— Net treasury income climbed 14.7%, from €110.5m to €126.7m, driven by
CMS client activity which added €130.4m (€82.3m) and was only in part
offset by a reduced contribution from the proprietary trading book which
showed a net loss of €11m at the year-end (versus €27m last year);

— Net fee and commission income fell by 13.8%, from €207.3m to €178.6m,
with the excellent performance by advisory and M&A business (up from
€64.7m to €87.5m) offset by lower capital market fees of €28.9m (€65.8m).
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Conversely, operating costs were up from €212.4m to €220.2m, €5.4m of
which in respect of MMA) as a result of the intense project activity chiefly in IT
(infrastructure platform improvement) and regulation (MiFID II, AIRB models,
IFRS 9 introduction and Brexit).

Loans loss provisions reflect writebacks of €62.7m, chiefly as a result
of certain unlikely-to-pay positions being revised in view of more positive
operating performances by the businesses concerned, which in some cases led to
repayments exceeding expectations compared to the restructuring plans agreed.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 13,996.9 15,560.8
New loans 7.,331.7 5,777.3
No. of staff 344 365
Risk-weighted assets 17,362.9 17,579.2

Loans and advances to customers rose from €14bn to €15.6bn, on new loans
of €5.8bn, only in part offset by redemptions totalling €4.3bn, €1.8bn of which
were early redemptions.

30/6/18 30/6/19 Chg.

(€m) Yo (€m) Yo
Ttaly 6,629.4 47% 7,884.0 51% 18.9%
France 1,202.8 9% 1,558.9 10% 29.6%
Spain 1,404.7 10% 941.2 6% -33.0%
Germany 899.7 6% 904.8 6% 0.6%
UK. 1,171.4 8% 1,131.3 7% -3.4%
Other non resident 2,688.9 20% 3,140.6 20% 16.8%
Total loans and advances to customers 13,996.9 100% 15,560.8 100% 11.2%

Gross NPLs decreased in absolute terms, from €648m to €628.9m, and in
relative terms, to 4% of the total loan book (4.5%); in addition to the collections
referred to previously, a new unlikely-to-pay position was recorded with a nominal
value of €50m. Net NPLs increased from €341.7m to €384.4m, but were unchanged
in relative terms at 2.5% of the total loan book, with the coverage ratio decreasing
from 47.3% to 38.9% as a result of the writebacks mentioned above.

56 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2019



A brief description of the main trends in the investment banking market and

the results achieved by the Group is provided below:

The European investment banking market reflects an increase in M&A
activity, in Italy and Spain in particular which are two of the Bank’s core
markets. This drove an increase in fee income from advisory business, from
€64.7m to €87.5m. In particular, the financial institutions segment covered
over twenty deals (Intrum Justitia, Dovalure, Eurobank, Crédit Agricole,
etc.), with an average fee of over €1.5m. Among the other industries the
following deals were also significant: TMT (Mediaset, Vivendi, Cellnex,
ete.); Transportation & Infrastructure (Abertis, Atlantia, etc.); industrial and
automotive (Prysmian, Saes Getters, etc.); and real estate (Parco Leonardo,
Fabrica Immobiliare, etc.). Ongoing coverage of the financial sponsors sector
also resulted in an increasing number of deals involving private equity, in
Italy (Basalt Infrastructure, BC Partners, Peninsula, etc.) and Spain (Victoria
Capital Partners, Ardian, etc.). Meanwhile, the growing focus on the Italian
mid-corp sector translated to a total of twenty deals closed, including Bain
Capital Credit, 21 Investimenti, Ardian and Zephyro.

Newly-acquired MMA contributes to the above figures. Established in 2010,

the company is a French operator of primary standing and is mainly focused on

M&A activities for mid-cap to large corporates and a wide range of financial

sponsors. The company employs some 40 staff, and in the 2018 calendar year

generated turnover of approx. €50m, completing around thirty mandates.

Debt capital market (DCM) activity grew in some of the main European
countries (Italy and Spain), but the Bank was involved fewer transactions
(around fifty, as opposed to sixty last year), with an equivalent reduction in
the fees generated from them (from €24.9m to €18.6m;

Equity capital market (ECM) activities showed a substantial downturn
(over 50% in ltaly, France, Spain and Germany); this trend was reflected in
a sharp reduction in fees from this activity (from €40.9m to €10.3m), with
involvement in only eight deals (compared with twenty last year), the largest
of which was the Nexi [PO;

The EMEA debt market showed an overall increase of 15% in the period (9%
for the Ttalian domestic market); against this backdrop, lending fees reduced

from €50.7m to €43.3m;
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— The other segments (equity sales, markets and other income) generated

€18.8m in revenues (€26.1m). This item includes fees credited back internal

to the Group in return for placement of Wholesale Banking products to

Wealth Management clients.

(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/18 30/6/19
Capital Market 65.8 28.9 -56.0%
Lending 50.7 43.3 -14.6%
Advisory M&A 64.7 87.5 35.3%
Markets, sales and other gains 26.1 18.8 -27.9%
Net fee and commission income 207.3 178.6 -13.8%

SPECIALTY FINANCE

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss IAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 67.6 83.1 229
Net treasury income — 0.1 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 47.1 49.0 4.0
Total income 114.7 132.2 15.3
Labour costs (16.4) (16.6) 1.2
Administrative expenses (27.1) (32.5) 19.9
Operating costs (43.5) (49.1) 12.9
Loan loss provisions (25.7) (26.5) 3.1
Provisions for other financial assets — 0.4 n.m.
Profit before tax 45.5 57.0 25.3
Income tax for the period (14.8) (18.5) 25.0
Net profit 30.7 38.5 25.4

Cost/Income ratio (%) 37.9 37.1

Specialty Finance delivered a 25.4% increase in net profit, from €30.7m to
€38.5m, split equally between MBCredit Solutions (up from €16.2m to €18.3m)

and MBFacta (up from €14.5m to €20.2m).

The 15.3% increase in revenues, from €114.7m to €132.2m, chiefly reflects
the rise in net interest income (which was up 22.9%, from €67.6m to €83.1m),

with fees and commission income more stable (up 4%, from €47.1m to €49m).

MBFACTA contributed €52.4m (up 22%), €47.7m of which by way of net interest
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income (an increase of 21.6%); while MBCredit Solutions contributed €79.8m
(up 11.5%), split between net interest income (€35.4m) and fee and commission
income (€44.4m, €26.9m of which due to higher amounts collected on the NPL
portfolio). At the same time, operating costs also increased, by 12.9% (from

€43.5m to €49.1m), chiefly due to higher credit recovery expenses in connection
with the NPL portfolios of €14.7m (€11.6m).

Loan loss provisions were virtually unchanged, up from €25.7m to €26.5m,
with €14.9m attributable to factoring (€15.2m) and €11.6m to the NPLs portfolios
(€10.5m).

30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 2,137.3 2,304.5
New loans 5,353.9 6,596.8
No. of staff 243 256
Risk-weighted assets 2,148.0 2,486.6

The 7.8% increase in loans and advances to customers, from €2,137.3m
to €2,304.5m, involved all segments: ordinary factoring (up from €1,449.8m to
€1,520,8m); instalment factoring (up from €399.6m to €415.1m), and the NPL
portfolios acquired (up from €287.9m to €368.6m). Gross NPLs in factoring
business rose by 10.3%, from €37.4m to €41.3m, but were stable in relative
terms at 2.1% of total loans; net NPLs meanwhile were flat at €10.3m.

The NPL portfolio is still concentrated in the retail unsecured segment

(83.1%), and non-recourse acquisitions were made for a total of €117.9m in the
twelve months (nominal value €1.5bn).
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PRINCIPAL INVESTING

The Principal Investing (PI) division administers the Group’s portfolio
of equity investments and holdings, including the stake in Assicurazioni
Generali in particular.

(€m)
30/6/18 30/6/19 Chg. (%)

Profit-and-loss IAS39 IFRS 9
Other incomes 14.7 11.2 -23.8
Equity-accounted companies 280.3 321.2 14.6
Total income 295.0 332.4 12.7
Labour costs (3.8) (3.9) 2.6
Administrative expenses (1.0) (1.2) 20.0
Operating costs 4.8) (5.1) 6.3
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity holdings 96.3 — n.m.
Net loss provisions (1.8) (3.3) 83.3
Profit before tax 384.7 324.0 -15.8
Income tax for the period (10.9) 9.8) -10.1
Net profit 373.8 314.2 -15.9

Revenues from Principal Investing increased during the twelve months, from
€295m to €332.4m, largely due to the higher contribution from Assicurazioni
Generali (up from €279.9m to €320m). Net profit came in at €314.2m, compared
with €373.8m last year which, however, was boosted by a gain on disposal of
€96.3m." Net losses of €3.3m on investment funds were recorded for the twelve
months (compared with a loss of €1.8m last year).

30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Banking book equity securities 718.5 656.7
1AS28 investments 3,210.8 3.259.8
Risk-weighted assets 6,256.6 5,641.6

The book value of the Assicurazioni Generali investment rose from
€3,171.4m to €3,219.3m, after profits of €320m, adjusted for the dividend

collected (€182.4m), and the €89.7m reduction in valuation reserves.

12 With the introduction of IFRS 9, gains (losses) on disposals of investment securities held in the banking book (formerly “Available For Sale™)
no longer pass through profit and loss but are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. Conversely, the fair value of funds (including
private equity and seed capital) is now taken through profit and loss.
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As for banking book securities, holdings in funds increased from €459.8m to
€520.4m, following net investments in seed capital of €62.7m and net redemptions
for other funds totalling €1.6m, plus downward adjustments to reflect fair value in
an amount of €1.9m; holdings in equities decreased from €258.7m to €136.3m,
after sales of €145.3m, the gains on which (€3.7m) were taken through net equity
along with the valuations at end-June 2019 (which together added €4.2m).

HOLDING FUNCTIONS (CENTRAL, TREASURY AND LEASING)

The centralized Holding Functions division houses the Group’s the leasing
operations, its Treasury and ALM activities (with the objective of optimizing
management of the funding and liquidity process at consolidated level), and all
costs relating to central Group functions. Since 1 January 2019 they have also
included the corporate services provided by Spafid Connect, following the sale
of the Market Connect business unit.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)

30/6/18 30/6/19

Profit-and-loss IAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income (37.5) 47.1) -25.6
Net trading income 13.1 45.0 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 15.5 74 -52.3
Total income (8.9) 5.3 n.m.
Labour costs (118.2) (117.1) -0.9
Administrative expenses (55.1) (60.5) 9.8
Operating costs (173.3) (177.6) 2.5
Gains (losses) on disposal of equity holdings — — n.m.
Loan loss provisions (7.2) 9.0) 25.0
Provisions for other financial assets 0.3) 0.1 n.m.
Other income (losses) (49.3) (54.8) -11.2
Profit before tax (239.0) (236.0) 1.3
Income tax for the period 83.3 70.6 -15.2
Minority interest (3.2) 2.1) 34.4
Net profit (158.9) (167.5) -5.4

30/6/18 30/6/19

Balance-sheet data

Loans and advances to customers 2.116.7 1.951.6

Banking book securities 6.487.2 5.550.5

No. of staff 801 810

Risk-weighted assets 4.016.0 3.504.7
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The pre-tax loss incurred by the Holding Functions division was slightly
lower than the one last year, at €236m (€239m), reflecting higher trading income
of €45m (€13.1m) which drove an improvement in the net result from treasury
management (loss of €54.7m, compared with €66m last year), penalized by the
substantial liquidity position held in a negative interest rate scenario. Operating
costs rose by 2.5% (from €173.3m to €177.6m), on higher contributions from
treasury, leasing and corporate services, with central structures virtually
unchanged despite the high levels of regulatory project activity (MiFID II,
Insurance Distribution Directive, Securities Finance Transactions Regulation,
PSD 2, AML and Data Privacy); the impact of mandatory and voluntary
contributions to resolution schemes on P&L increased from €46.3m to €53.5m,
€6.4m of which due to the Carige subordinated bond subscribed for at end-2018
being written off on prudential grounds. The net loss increased from €158.9m
to €167.5m, due solely to the higher tax burden as a result of the effects of
distributing intercompany dividends.

The various segments performed as follows:

—  Group Treasury and ALM delivered a net loss of €54.7m, better than the
€66m loss posted last year, due to higher treasury income of €45.1m (€13.6m)
which offset the increase in net interest expense (from €82.9m to €37.4m) as
a result of holding a substantial liquidity position in a negative interest rate
scenario, only in part mitigated by the reduction in the cost of funding due
to use of diversified forms of funding (retail and secured) and the redemption
of certain particularly expensive bond issues, and despite the particularly
difficult market conditions caused by the sovereign debt spread trend;

— Leasing delivered a net profit of €3.2m, down from €4.8m last year, on an
11.9% reduction in revenues (to €42.3m) in line with the trend in average
volumes (down 7%). Operating costs were basically unchanged at €27m
(€26.3m), despite including charges due to project activities in connection
with changes to regulations; loan loss provisions totalled €8.6m, slightly
higher than last year (€7.3m). Leases outstanding declined from €2,116.7m
to €1,951.6m, with new business virtually unchanged at €433m. Gross NPLs
declined from €206.6m to €174.3m, and represent 8.6% (9.4%) of the total
portfolio; net NPLs fell by 20.3%, from €140.2m to €111.8m, with a coverage
ratio of 35.9% (32.2%). Bad debits totalled €24.1m (€33.1m), and represent
1.2% (1.6%) of the total portfolio, with a coverage ratio of 46.8% (47.4%).
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(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che. (%)
30/6/18 30/6/19
Profit-and-loss IAS39 IFRS 9
Net interest income 45.2 39.9 -11.7
Net treasury income 0.2 0.1 -50.0
Net fee and commission income 2.6 2.3 -11.5
Total income 48.0 42.3 -11.9
Labour costs (13.8) (12.7) -8.0
Administrative expenses (12.5) (14.3) 14.4
Operating costs (26.3) (27.0) 2.7
Loan loss provisions (7.3) (8.6) 17.8
Other income (losses) (2.9 0.1) n.m.
Profit before tax 11.5 6.6 -42.6
Income tax for the period (3.5) (1.3) -62.9
Risultato di pertinenza di terzi (3.2) 2.1) -34.4
Net profit 4.8 3.2 -33.3
Cost Income ratio (%) 54.8 63.8
30/6/18 30/6/19
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 2,116,7 1,951,6
New loans 423,0 433.,0
No. of staff 142 129
Risk-weighted assets 1,879,0 1,727.4

* ok ok
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The financial highlights for the other Group companies in the twelve

months under review are shown below:

(€m)

Company Percentage Business Total Loans and Total net No.

shareholding line assets advances to equity ! of staff

customers
Mediobanca Securities (data in USDm) 100% Wholesale Banking 7.0 — 5.5 4
Mediobanca Funding Luxembourg 100% Wholesale Banking 11.0 10.0 0.8 —
Messier Maris et Associés S.C.A. #¥¥ 100% Wholesale Banking 29.8 — 14.9 37
Messier Maris et Associés L.L.C.
(data in USDm) *#* 100% Wholesale Banking 0.2 — 0.8) —
Wholesale Banking /

Mediobanca International 100% Holding Functions — 7,888.6 5,147.1 338.2 17
MBFACTA 100%  Specialty Finance — 2,003.2 1,936.1 132.8 30
MBCredit Solutions 100%  Specialty Finance 416.8 369.1 132.0 224
Compass Banca 100% Consumer Banking 13,650.7  12,185.2 1,635.5 1.358
Futuro 100% Consumer Banking — 1,717.3 1,636.4 122.7 71
Quarzo S.r.l. 90% Consumer Banking 0.4 — — —
Quarzo CQS S.r.1. 90% Consumer Banking 0.5 — — —
Compass RE 100% Consumer Banking 391.5 — 134.6 1
CheBanca! 100% Affluent & Premier 21,542.8 9,001.9 328.2 1.363
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90%  Affluent & Premier 0.6 — 0.1 —
Compagnie Monégasque de Banque 100%  Private Banking — 4,297.1 1,195.6 777.3 229
Spafid 100%  Private Banking 56.9 — 49.4 48
Spafid Family Office SIM 100%  Private Banking 1.3 — 0.7 2
Cairn Capital Group Limited
(data in GBPm) * 100%  Private Banking 12.2 — 8.8 54
CMB Wealth Management UK
(in liquidation) (data in GBPm) 100%  Private Banking 0.1 — — —
RAM Active Investments (data in CHFm) ** 89.3%  Private Banking 28.4 — 13.5 38
RAM Active Investments (Luxembourg)
(data in CHFm) 100%  Private Banking 12.7 — 2.3
Compagnie Monégasque de Gestion 100%  Private Banking 5.5 — —
Spafid Trust S.r.1. 100%  Private Banking 1.6 — 1.3
Mediobanca SGR S.p.A. 100%  Private Banking 379 — 24.3 47
Mediobanca Management Company S.A. 100%  Private Banking 11.9 — 5.8 6
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100% Holding Functions 1.8 — 1.7 —
SelmaBipiemme Leasing 60% Holding Functions ~ 2,110.0 1.951.6 204.2 129
Prominvestment (under liquidation -
under arrangement with creditors) 100% Holding Functions 0.4 — 0.4) —
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100% Holding Functions 100.2 — 37.5 120
Ricerche e Studi 100% Holding Functions 1.1 — — 14
Spafid Connect 100% Holding Functions 18.4 — 18.1 9

' Does not include profit for the period.

*  Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.
#%  Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.

##% Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.
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(€m)

Company Percentage Business Total Operating Loss Gain/(loss)
shareholding line income costs provisions for the
period
Mediobanca Securities (data in USDm) 100%  Wholesale Banking 2.8 (2.4) — 0.2
Mediobanca Funding Luxembourg 100%  Wholesale Banking 0.5 0.5) — —
Messier Maris et Associés S.C.A. ##%* 100%  Wholesale Banking 5.3 (5.0) — 0.3
Messier Maris et Associés L.L.C.
(data in USDm) 100%  Wholesale Banking — 0.4) — 0.4)
Wholesale Banking /
Mediobanca International 100%  Holding Functions 18.0 (8.5) (2.6) 3.2
MBFACTA 100%  Specialty Finance 52.4 9.4)  (14.9) 18.9
MBCredit Solutions 100%  Specialty Finance 81.0 (409  (11.6) 19.6
Compass Banca 100%  Consumer Banking 926.0 (275.7) (234.9) 274.3
Futuro 100%  Consumer Banking 512 (16.8) (3.4) 20.9
Quarzo S.r.l. 90%  Consumer Banking 0.2 0.2) — —
Quarzo CQS S.r.l. 90%  Consumer Banking — — — —
Compass RE 100%  Consumer Banking 49.5 0.8) — 37.7
CheBanca! 100%  Affluent & Premier 297.1  (236.3)  (16.6) 17.2
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90%  Affluent & Premier 0.1 0.1) — —
Compagnie Monégasque de Banque 100% Private Banking 92.3 (58.5) 0.4 28.9
Spafid 100% Private Banking 9.5 9.2) 0.3) —
Spafid Family Office SIM 100% Private Banking 1.7 (1.4) — 0.2
Cairn Capital Group Limited (data in
GBPm) * 100% Private Banking 14.4 (19.7) — (4.2)
CMB Wealth Management UK
(in liquidation) (data in GBPm) 100% Private Banking 0.1 — — 0.1
RAM Active Investments (data in CHFm) ** 89.3% Private Banking 362  (21.8) — 10.7
RAM Active Investments (Luxembourg)
(data in CHFm) 100% Private Banking 4.3 (2.6) — 1.3
Compagnie Monégasque de Gestion 100% Private Banking 5.2 2.7 — 1.7
Spafid Trust S.r.l. 100% Private Banking 0.8 0.7) — 0.1
Mediobanca SGR S.p.A. 100% Private Banking 20.5  (13.9) — 4.5
Mediobanca Management Company S.A. 100% Private Banking 4.3 2.7 — 0.9
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100%  Holding Functions 0.2 0.1) — 0.1
SelmaBipiemme Leasing 60%  Holding Functions 42.3  (27.0) (8.6) 5.3
Prominvestment (under liquidation -
under arrangement with creditors) 100%  Holding Functions — 0.2) — 0.2)
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100%  Holding Functions 0.1 0.1 — —
Ricerche e Studi 100%  Holding Functions 2.2 (2.2) — —
Spafid Connect 100%  Holding Functions 4.0 (8.4) 0.1) (3.7)
*  Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.

#%  Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.

##%  Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — Section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 119.
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Finally, it should be noted that:

— On 30 April 2019, Compagnie Monégasque de Banque approved its
consolidated financial statements for 2018, which reflect a net profit of
€12.3m. The reduction compared to last year (€16.6m) is chiefly due
to lower revenues of €93.9m (€99.4m), which reflect the reduction
in fees (from €61.2m to €58.3m, in particular performance fees on
funds managed), the reduction in trading income from €19.7m to
€3.6m, due chiefly to growth by the proprietary portfolio, only partly
offset by the increase in net interest income, from €24.3m to €37.7m
due to the increased profitability of USD assets, Costs were basically
unchanged, at €59m (€58.3m), despite the investments in the new IT
system, almost all of which was offset by lower amortization charges on
acquisitions. Customer loans rose in the twelve months, from €1,201.5m
to €1,250.2m, while deposits at other banks declined slightly, from
€2,328.5m to €2,307.4m, on client funding down from €3,350.6m to
€3,257m (absorbed by the reduction in treasury applications). Net AUM/
AUA (including direct funding) were unchanged at €10bn.

Other information

Related party disclosure

Financial accounts outstanding as at 30 June 2019 between companies
forming part of the Mediobanca Group and related parties, and transactions
undertaken between such parties during the financial year, are illustrated in
Part H of the notes to the accounts, along with all the information required
in terms of transparency pursuant to Consob resolution 17221 issued on 12
March 2010.

All such accounts form part of Group companies’ ordinary operations, are
maintained on an arm’s length basis, and are entered into solely in the interests
of the companies concerned. No atypical or irregular transactions have been
entered into with such counterparties.
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Article 15 of Consob’s market regulations

With reference to Article 15 (previously Article 36) of Consob resolution
16191/07 (Market Regulations) on the subject of prerequisites for listing in
respect of parent companies incorporated or regulated by the laws of EU member
states and relevant to the preparation of the consolidated accounts, Compagnie
Monégasque de Banque is the only Group company affected by this provision,
and adequate procedures have been adopted to ensure full compliance with it.

Principal risks facing the Group

In addition to the customary information on financial risks (credit, market,
liquidity and operational risks), the notes to the accounts contain a description
of the other risks to which the Group is exposed in the course of its business, as
they emerged from the ICAAP process now required by the regulations in force.

In particular, this involves concentration risk in the Group’s Corporate
Finance activities towards the leading ltalian industrial groups, its presence in
Consumer Banking and Affluent & Premier businesses on the domestic market,
and its exposure to market volatility in respect of its securities portfolio in the
Wholesale Banking, Principal Investing and Holding Functions divisions.

Section 12 of the Liabilities in the Notes to the Accounts also contains
information on the most relevant litigation involving the Mediobanca Group
still pending and the principal disputes outstanding with the Italian revenue
authorities.
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Consolidated non-financial statement

The Group publishes a Consolidated Non-Financial Statement which is
drawn up in accordance with Italian Legislative Decree 254/16, and contains
information on environmental and social issues, human resources, protection
of human rights and anti-corruption measures. This information is intended
to facilitate understanding of the Group’s activities, performance, results and
impact generated.

The Consolidated Non-Financial Disclosure is published annually
(www.mediobanca.com, “Sustainability”), and is drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of Italian Legislative Decree 254/16 and the core option of
the Global Reporting Initiative Sustainability Reporting Standards (the “GRI
Standards”) published in 2016 by the Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI),
which are currently the most widely used and internationally-recognized
standards in non-financial reporting.

Research

R&S has continued with its analysis of companies and capital markets
as in the past. The company produced the forty-third edition of its Annual
Directory, which includes analysis of leading Italian listed companies, and
published the profiles of around ninety other industrial and financial groups
online. The sixth edition of the survey of local utilities owned by the leading
local authorities has been completed, as has the twenty-third edition of
R&S’s survey of the world’s leading industrial and service multinationals, the
seventeenth edition of its survey of the leading international banks, and the
eighth edition of its review of industrial companies in southern Italy on behalf

of the Fondazione Ugo La Malfa.
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Rating

The leading agencies all revised their rating for the republic of ltaly in the
summer months of 2018, impacting on the nation’s banking system as a whole.
Asforother banks with the same rating, in September 2018 Fitch cut Mediobanca’s
outlook from “stable” to “negative”, while affirming its long-term ratings at
BBB, following the same rating action on ltalian sovereign debt; in October
2018, S&P cut Mediobanca’s outlook from “stable” to “negative”, maintaining
the rating at “BBB” after the outlook for ltaly was similarly downgraded; and the
end of the same month, despite downgrading the republic of Italy from baa2 to
baa3, Moody’s confirmed Mediobanca’s long-term rating at baal, i.e. two notches
higher than sovereign debt, with stable outlook.

Outlook

The performance for the next financial year should be in line with this one,
although it will once again be affected by the low interest rate scenario and
uncertainty over the trends in financial markets, the Italian market in particular.
Net interest income should grow moderately, on higher lendings, a stable cost
of funding and basically flat returns on assets. The development of the Wealth
Management platform and expansion of the Corporate and Investment Banking
scope of operations should lead to an increase in fee income. The cost trend will
be impacted by the enhancement of the commercial structures and additional
ICT investments linked to business development and regulatory requirements.
The cost of risk should remain at favourable levels, albeit slightly higher than
this year.
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Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and net profit

(€ 000)

Shareholders’ Net profit

equity (loss)

Balance at 30/06 as per Mediobanca S.p.A. accounts 4,800,635 385,109

Net surplus over book value for consolidated companies 14,822 436,654
Differences on exchange rates originating from conversion of accounts

made up in currencies other than the Euro (5,082) —

Other adjustments and restatements on consolidation, including the

effects of accounting for companies on an equity basis 4,175,827 1.262

Dividends received during the period — —

Total 8,986,202 823,025

Milan, 19 September 2019

THE BoARD oF DIRECTORS
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DECLARATION BY HEAD
OF COMPANY FINANCIAL REPORTING



DECLARATION IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as required by Article 81-ter of Consob resolution no. 11971

issued on 14 May 1999 as amended

1. The undersigned Alberto Nagel and Emanuele Flappini, in their respective
capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Head of Company Financial
Reporting of Mediobanca, hereby declare, and in view inter alia of the
provisions contained in Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of Italian
Legislative Decree 58/98, that the administrative and accounting procedures
used in the preparation of the interim financial statements:

— were adequate in view of the company’s characteristics;
— were effectively applied in the year ended 30 June 2019.

2. Assessment of the adequacy of said administrative and accounting
procedures for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at
30 June 2019 was based on a model defined by Mediobanca in accordance
with benchmark standards for internal control systems which are widely
accepted at international level (CoSO and CobiT frameworks).

3. It is further hereby declared that

3.1 the consolidated financial statements:

—has been drawn up in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union pursuant to
EC regulation no. 1606/02 issued by the European Parliament and
Council on 19 July 2002;

— corresponds to the data recorded in the company’s books and account
ledgers;

—1is adequate for the purpose of providing a truthful and accurate
representation of the capital, earnings and financial situation of
the issuer and the group of companies included within its area of
consolidation.

3.2 the review of operations contains reliable analysis of the Group’s operating
performance and results, and of the situation of Mediobanca S.p.A. and the
group of companies comprised within its area of consolidation, along with a
description of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Milan, 19 September 2019

Head of Company
Chief Executive Officer Financial Reporting
Alberto Nagel Emanuele Flappini
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Independent auditor’s report
in accordance with article 14 of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014

To the shareholders of Mediobanca SpA

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mediobanca Group (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 30 June 2019, the consolidated profit and loss account,
the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss account, the statement of changes to consolidated net
equity, the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the accounts,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as of 30 June 2019, and of the result of its operations and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/05
and article 43 of Legislative Decree No. 136/15

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia).

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of this report. We are independent of
Mediobanca SpA (the Company) pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian law. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Sede legale e amministrativa: Milano 20149 Via Monte Rosa 91 Tel. 0277851 Fax 027785240 Cap. Soc. Euro 6.890.000,00 i.v., C.F.e PIVA e
Reg. Imp. Milano 12979880155 Iscritta al n°® 119644 del Registro dei Revisori Legali - Altri Uffici: Ancona 60131 Via Sandro Totti 1 Tel.
0712132311 - Bari 70122 Via Abate Gimma 72 Tel. 0805640211 - Bologna 40126 Via Angelo Finelli 8 Tel. 0516186211 - Brescia 25121 Viale
Duca d’Aosta 28 Tel. 0303697501 - Catania 95129 Corso Italia 302 Tel. 0957532311 - Firenze 50121 Viale Gramsei 15 Tel. 0552482811 -
Genova 16121 Piazza Piccapietra 9 Tel. 01029041 - Napoli 80121 Via dei Mille 16 Tel. 08136181 - Padova 35138 Via Vicenza 4 Tel. 049873481
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Key Audit Matters Auditing procedures performed in
response to key audit matters

First-time adoption of IFRS 9 — “Financial
Instruments”

Notes to the accounts: Since the Group adopted IFRS 9 starting from
Part A — Accounting policies, Section 2, 1 July 2018, our audit procedures were
paragraph “Transition to IFRS 9 on financial applied to the opening balances on that date,
instruments” to verify the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9.

Our procedures involved, among other things,
Starting from 1 July 2018 Mediobanca Group (the assessing the compliance of the accounting

“Group”) has adopted IFRS 9 — Financial decisions made for the transition to the new

Instruments which introduced new rules for the financial reporting standard and the

classification and measurement of financial disclosures provided.

instruments, the measurement of related

impairment losses, and hedge accounting as In detail, to address this key audit matter we

compared to the IAS 39 applied by the Group up performed the following main activities,

to 30 June 2018. including the support of experts belonging to

The adoption of the new financial reporting the PwC network:

standard entailed a reduction of the Group’s net

equity on 1 July 2018 for Euro 80.9 million, after e Understanding and performing

the related tax effect. critical analysis of the policies,
procedures and solutions adopted by

The new classification and measurement rules for the Group with reference to relevant

financial assets are based on an entity’s business aspects (definition of the business

model for managing the financial assets (Business model, analysis of contractual cash

Model) and on the characteristics of the related flows and measurement methods) to

contractual cash flows (Solely Payments of assess their compliance with the new

Principal and Interest, “SPPI”); at the same time, standard, together with an analysis of

for financial assets other than those carried at fair the results of the validation activities

value through profit or loss, and for off-balance performed by the Group’s competent

sheet exposures (guarantees and commitments), internal functions;

the new standard has replaced the impairment e Verification of the completeness and

model of IAS 39 based on the Incurred Loss with accuracy of the new accounting

an impairment model based on the Expected categories based on the business

Credit Loss (“ECL”). As a consequence. by model defined and the results of the

introducing significant changes in classification analysis of contractual cash flows (the

and measurement requirements, IFRS 9 has “SPPI test”);

caused significant operating impacts, requiring e Verification of the SPPI test for a

the use of new models, more information, sample of financial assets;

parameters and assumptions, thus determining a e Understanding and verifying of the

higher degree of complexity in estimation appropriateness of the policies,

processes. procedures and methods used to
measure the Significant Increase in

With reference to Hedge Accounting, the standard Credit Risk (“SICR”), for the Staging

rewrote the rules for designating a hedging allocation both for performing loans

relationship and verifying its effectiveness, with (stage 1 and 2) and non-performing

the aim to align the accounting presentation with loans (stage 3), and for determining

2di8
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the entity’s risk management activities and to
strengthen disclosure of the risk management
activities performed by the reporting entity.

the ECL, also in regards to the
matters connected with the
application of multiple economic

scenarios and the use of forward-
looking information;

Starting from 1 July 2018, Mediobanca Group has
opted to adopt the new requirements for general

hedge accounting (opt-in), which did not generate e Performed verification of the
a significant impact on the Group’s net equity as completeness and accuracy of the
of 1 July 2018. data bases used for the calculation of

the ECL, the calculation formulas,
and the correct determination of the
key estimation parameters
(Probability of Default, Loss Given
Default and Exposure at Default);
Performed, for non-performing loans
(Stage 3), analysis and verification of
the reasonableness of the
assumptions underlying the recovery
scenarios hypothesised (sale and
internal recovery), the related
probabilities assigned and the
consequent estimated future cash
flows
e Performed analysis of the
completeness and appropriateness of
disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

For the reasons set out above, we focused on the
first-time application of IFRS 9 as a key

audit matter in relation to the consolidated

financial statements of Mediobanca Group as of

30 June 2019. .

Valuation of loans to customers carried at
amortised cost

Notes to the accounts:

Part A — Accounting policies

Part B — Notes to the consolidated balance sheet,
Assets, Section 4 and Section 12

Part C — Notes to the consolidated profit and loss
account, Section 8

Part E — Information on risks and related
hedging policies — 1.1 Credit risks

In performing our audit we considered
internal control relevant to financial
reporting in order to define auditing
procedures appropriate to the circumstances.
Also having regard our procedures on the
first-time application of IFRS 9, these
activities were performed also with the
support of experts belonging to the PwC
network.

As of 30 June 2019 loans to customers were equal
to Euro 46,216 million, corresponding to 95% of
line item “40 b) Financial assets at amortized cost
— Due from customers”, equal to Euro 48,638
million and corresponding to 59% of total assets .
in the consolidated financial statements.

In detail, to address this key audit matter we
performed the following main activities:

Analysis of the adequacy of the IT
environment and tests of the
operating effectiveness of relevant
controls over the IT systems and
software applications used;

Financial line “Assets classified as held for sale”,
equal to Euro 22.2 million, relates to a portfolio of

3di8
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non-performing loans of the subsidiary
Chebanca! SpA that was sold after the closing
date.

Net losses on loans to customers posted in the
year amounted to Euro 213 million.

We paid special attention to the measurement of
the above assets in the course of our audit
considering the materiality of the balance as well
as the measurement processes and methods that
require complex estimations of a number of
variables.

Estimation processes use significant assumptions,
aside from the verification of the SICR and
Staging allocation, also when determining the
hypotheses and inputs to the ECL models and, for
assets measured individually (Stage 3), when
determining the alternative recovery scenarios
hypothesised (sale or internal recovery), the
related probabilities assigned, the estimated
future cash flows, the timing of those cash flows,
and the realisable value of any collateral.

Understanding and evaluation of the
design of relevant controls over the
monitoring, classification and
measurement of credit and tests of
the operating effectiveness of those
controls;

Understanding and verification of the
appropriateness of the policies,
procedures and methods used to
measure the SICR, for the Staging
allocation and for determining the
ECL;

Verification of the correct application
of the measurement methods defined
for performing loans (Stage 1 and
Stage 2), of the completeness and
accuracy of the data bases used in the
ECL calculation, the calculation
formulas, and the correct
determination of the key estimation
parameters (Probability of Default,
Loss Given Default and Exposure at
Default);

Verification, on a sample basis, of the
reasonableness of classification of
individual non-performing loans
(Stage 3) based on the available
information on the debtor’s status
and other available evidence,
including from external sources, and
the assumptions made with reference
to the identification and
quantification of the estimated future
cash flows from recoveries, the
measurements of the collateral
securing those exposures and the
estimated timing of recovery;
Analysis of the appropriateness and
completeness of disclosures.

4di8
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Measurement of financial instruments at
fair value (securities and derivatives) not
quoted in active markets

Notes to the accounts:

Part A — Accounting policies

Part B — Notes to the consolidated balance sheet,
Assets, Section 2, Section 3 and Section 5;
Liabilities, Section 2, Section 3 and Section 4
Part C — Notes to the consolidated profit and loss
account, Section 4, Section 5 and Section 7
Part E — Information on risks and related
hedging policies — 1.2 Market risks

As part of our audit we paid special attention to
the analysis of the valuation models of financial
instruments not quoted in active markets and
measured at fair value.

Certain types of securities and derivative financial
instruments are measured using complex
valuation models, acknowledged in prevailing
practice. This practice is fed with inputs and
parameters directly observable and not
observable in the market and estimated internally
based on qualitative and quantitative
assumptions (financial instruments with fair
value hierarchy levels 2 and 3).

In performing our audit we considered
internal control relevant to financial
reporting in order to define auditing
procedures appropriate to the circumstances.
In detail, to address this key audit matter we
performed the following main activities:

e Analysis of the adequacy of the IT
environment and tests of the
operating effectiveness of relevant
controls over the IT systems and
software applications used;

e Understanding and evaluation of the
design of relevant controls over the
monitoring, classification and
measurement of financial
instruments with fair value hierarchy
levels 2 and 3 and tests of the
operating effectiveness of those
controls;

e Understanding and verification of the
appropriateness of the policies,
procedures and models used by the
Group to determine fair value;

e Verification, on a sample basis, of fair
value to analyze the reasonableness
the qualitative and quantitative
assumptions made and inputs used;
those analyses were performed with
the support of experts from the PwC
network;

e Verification, on a sample basis, of
classification in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance
with the categories provided by the
applicable financial reporting and
regulatory framework.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Statutory Audit Committee for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the

80 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2019
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European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree
No. 38/05 and article 43 of Legislative Decree No. 136/15 and, in the terms prescribed by law, for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, in
preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the appropriate application of the going concern
basis of accounting, and for disclosing matters related to going concern. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements, the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the parent company Mediobanca SpA or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The statutory audit committee (“collegio sindacale”) is responsible for overseeing, in the terms
prescribed by law, the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (ISA Ttalia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.

As part of our audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia),
we exercised professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit.
Furthermore:

. We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks; we obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

. We obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

. We evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;
. We concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
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However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern;

. We evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. We obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

We communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required
by ISA Italia regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified
during our audit.

We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under Italian law and communicated
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We described these matters in our auditor’s report.

Additional Disclosures required by Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014

On 27 October 2012, the shareholders of Mediobanca SpA in general meeting engaged us to perform
the statutory audit of the Company’s and the consolidated financial statements for the years ending 30
June 2013 to 30 June 2021.

We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5,
paragraph 1, of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and that we remained independent of the Company in
conducting the statutory audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the consolidated financial statements expressed in this report is
consistent with the additional report to the Collegio Sindacale, in its capacity as audit committee,
prepared pursuant to article 11 of the aforementioned Regulation.

Report on Compliance with other Laws and Regulations

Opinion in accordance with Article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree
No. 39/10 and Article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98

The directors of Mediobanca SpA are responsible for preparing a report on operations and a report on
the corporate governance and ownership structure of the Mediobanca Group as of 30 June 2019,

7di8
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including their consistency with the relevant consolidated financial statements and their compliance
with the law.

We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) No. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of the specific information
included in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure referred to in article 123-bis,
paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98, with the consolidated financial statements of the
Mediobanca Group as of 30 June 2019 and on their compliance with the law, as well as to issue a
statement on material misstatements, if any.

In our opinion, the report on operations and the specific information included in the report on
corporate governance and ownership structure mentioned above are consistent with the consolidated
financial statements of Mediobanca SpA as of 30 June 2019 and are prepared in compliance with the
law.

With reference to the statement referred to in article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree

No. 39/10, issued on the basis of our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report.

Statement in accordance with article 4 of Consob’s Regulation implementing
Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016

The directors of Mediobanca SpA are responsible for the preparation of the non-financial statement
pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016.

We have verified that the directors approved the non-financial statement.

Pursuant to article 3, paragraph 10, of Legislative Decree No. 254 of 30 December 2016, the non-
financial statement is the subject of a separate statement of compliance issued by ourselves.

Milan, 1 October 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Signed by

Marco Palumbo
(Partner)

This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the convenience of
international readers
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Consolidated Balance Sheet *

(€°000)
Assets 30/6/19 30/6/18
IFRS9 1AS39
10. Cash and cash equivalents 738,362 1,238,001
20. Financial assets at fair value with impact taken to profit and loss 10,622,973
a) Financial assets held for trading 9,765,653
b) Financial assets designated at fair value 51,976
¢) Other financial assets mandatorily at fair value 805,344
Financial assets held for trading (formerly heading 20 under TAS 39) 8,204,911
Financial assets available-for-sale (formerly heading 40 under TAS 39) 5,721,877
30. Financial assets at fair value with impact taken to comprehensive
income 3,886,771
40. Financial assets at amortized cost 56,599,859
a) Due from banks 7,961,932
b) Due from customers 48,637,927
Financial assets held-to-maturity (formerly heading 50 under IAS 39) 2,595,747
Due from banks (formerly heading 60 under TAS 39) 7,552,958
Due from customers (formerly heading 70 under TAS 39) 40,977,389
50. Hedging derivatives 412,234 225,814
60. Adjustment of hedging financial assets (+/-) — —
70. Equity investments 3,259,777 3,210,839
80. Reinsured portion of technical reserve — —
90. Property, plant and equipments 285,849 287,809
100. Intangible assets 901,758 739,864
of which:
goodwill 772,427 649,781
110. Tax assets 806,033 816,484
a) current 146,550 181,771
b) deferred 659,483 634,713
120. Assets classified as held for sale 22,168 —
130. Other assets 708,945 728,329
Total assets 78,244,729 72,300,522

*The Group has availed itself of the right not to restate the comparative data for the first year of IFRS 9 adoption on a like-for-like basis.
Accordingly, the figures for FY 2017-18, stated in accordance with IA S39, are not fully comparable.
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(€°000)

Liabilities and net equity 30/6/19 30/6/18
IFRS9 1AS39

10. Financial liabilities at amortized cost 57,936,936

a) Due to banks 13,870,858

b) Due to customers 23,987,882

¢) Debt securities in issue 20,078,196
Due to banks (formerly heading 10 under TAS 39) 12,263,459
Due to customers (formerly heading 20 under TAS 39) 21,320,043
Debt securities in issue (formerly heading 30 under [AS 39) 20,608,518

20. Trading financial liabilities 8,027,751
Trading liabilities (formerly heading 40 under TAS 39) 6,462,404
30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value 55,859 —
40. Hedging derivatives 414,241 233,086
50. Adjustment of hedging financial liabilities (+/-) — —
60. Tax liabilities 600,938 531,587
a) current 281,766 191,999
b) deferred 319,172 339,588
70. Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale — —
80. Oher liabilities 948,958 760,375
90. Staff severance indemnity provision 27,808 27,510
100. Provisions 162,515 185,482
a) commitments and financial guarantees 10,536 —
b) post-employment and similar benefits 1,840 —
¢) other provisions 150,139 185,482
110. Insurance reserves 170,838 175,853
120. Valuation reserves 597,504 764,255
130. Redeemable shares repayable on demand — —
140. Equity instruments repayable on demand — —
150. Reserves 5,891,473 5,490,450
160. Share premium reserve 2,195,606 2,191,743
170. Share capital 443,608 443,275
180. Treasury share (-) (141,989) (109,338)
190. Minority interests (+/-) 89,658 87,900
200. Profit/(loss) for the period (+/-) 823,025 863,920
Total liabilities and net equity 78,244,729 72,300,522
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account *

(€°000)
Items 30/6/19 30/6/18
IFRS9 TAS39
10. Interest and similar income 1,885,990 1.896,801
of which: interest income calculated according to the effective interest method 1,618,642
20. Interest expense and similar charges (481,792) (530,760)
30. Net interest income 1,404,198 1,366,041
40. Fee and commission income 584,923 590,649
50. Fee and commission expense (144.,455) (134.,315)
60. Net fee and ¢ ission income 440,468 456,334
70. Dividends and similar income 105,803 84,323
80. Net trading income (12,148)
Net trading income (formerly heading 80 under IAS 39) 38,662
90. Net hedging income (expense) 5426 2,857
100. Gain (loss) on disposal/repurchase: 79,359
a) financial assets measured at amortized cost 2,365
b) financial assets valued at fair value with impact taken to comprehensive income 66,799
¢) financial liabilities 10,195
Gain (loss) on disposal/repurchase: (formerly heading 100 under IAS 39) 105,057
a) loans and advances (9.363)
b) AFS securities 123,066
¢) financial assets held to maturity (919)
d) financial liabilities (7.727)
110. Net result from other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value with
impact taken to profit and loss: 16,399
a) financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value (28)
b) other financial assets mandatorily valued at fair value 16,427
120. Total income 2,039,505 2,053,274
130. Net writeoffs (writebacks) for credit risk: (210,291)
a) financial assets measured at amortized cost (209,512)
b) financial assets valued at fair value with impact taken to comprehensive income (779)
Adjustments for impairment to: (formerly heading 130 under IAS 39) (212,134)
a) loans and advances (209,231)
b) AFS securities (4,658)
¢) financial assets held to maturity 3,264
d) other financial assets (1,509)
140. Gains (losses) from contractual modifications without derecognition (199)
150. Net income from financial operations 1,829,015 1,841,140
160. Premiums earned (net) 59,173 57,867
170. Other income (net) from insurance activities (12,715) (8,989)
180. Net profit from financial and insurance activities 1,875,473 1,890,018
190. Administrative expenses: (1.233,763) (1,172,200)
a) personnel coss (581,141) (557,824)
b) other administrative expenses (652,622) (614,376)
200. Net transfers to provisions: (23) (26,677)
a) commitments and financial guaraniees 3,707
b) other sums set aside (net) (3,730) (26,677)
210. Net adjustments to tangible assets (13,890) (15,952)
220. Net adjustments to intangible assets (30,274) (27,928)
230. Other operating income (expense) 163,891 167,819
240. Operating costs (1,114.,059) (1,074,938)
250. Gain (loss) on equity investments 321,157 280,291
260. Net result from fair value valuation of tangible and intangible assets — —
270. Goodwill writeoffs — —
280. Gain (loss) on disposal of investments 166 475
290. Profit (loss) on ordinary activity before tax 1,082,737 1,095,846
300. Income tax for the year on ordinary activities (250,529) (228,120)
310. Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after tax 826,208 867,726
320. Gain (loss) of ceded operating assets, net of tax — —
330. Net profit (loss) for the period 826,208 867,726
340. Net profit (loss) for the period attributabe to minorities (3,183) (3.806)
350. Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to Mediobanca 823,025 863,920

* The Group has availed itself of the right not to restate the comparative data for the first year of IFRS 9 adoption on a like-for-like basis.

Accordingly, the figures for FY 2017-18, stated in accordance with TAS 39, are not fully comparable.
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Consolidated Comprehensive Profit and Loss Account *

(€7000)
30/6/19 30/6/18
IFRS9 1AS39
10. Profit (Loss) for the period 826,208 867,726
Other income items net of tax without passing through
profit and loss (11,923) (1,085)
20. Equity securities designated at fair value with impact taken to
comprehensive income 10,928 —
30. Financial liabilities at fair value with impact taken to profit and loss
(variation of own credit risk) — _
40. Hedging of equity securities designated at fair value with impact
taken to comprehensive income — —
50. Property, plant and equipments — —
60. Intangible assets — _
70. Defined benefit schemes (1,106) (351)
80. Non-current assets held for sale — —
90. Share of valuation reserves attributable to equity-accounted
companies (21,745) (734)
Other income items net of tax passing through profit and loss (133,288) (105,407)
100. Foreign investments hedges (3.838) —
110. Exchange rate differences 3,706 (2,752)
120. Cash flow hedges (28,582) 29,254
130. Hedging instruments (non-designated elements) — —
140. Financial assets (other than equity securities) valued at fair value
with impact taken to comprehensive income (23,179) (197,816) !
150. Non-current assets held for sale — —
160. Share of valuation reserves attributable to equity-accounted
companies (81.395) 65,907
170. Total other income items, net of tax (145,211) (106,492)
180. Comprehensive income (Heading 10 + 170) 680,997 761,234
190. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to
minorities 3,337 4,446
200. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to
Mediobanca 677,660 756,788

*The Group has availed itself of the right not to restate the comparative data for the first year of IFRS 9 adoption on a like-for-like basis.
Accordingly, the figures for FY 2017-18, stated in accordance with TAS 39, are not fully comparable.

! This heading shows the change in item 100 “Financial assets available-for-sale” pursuant to Bank of Italy Circular 262/2005 fourth amendment.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Direct Method

(€°000)
Amount
30/6/19 30/6/18
A. Cash flows from operating activity IFRS9 IAS39
1. Operating activity 195,892 12,770
- interest received 1,723,804 3,634,612
- interest paid (678,589) (2,526,513)
- dividends and similar income 94,091 77,882
- net fees and commission income 153,751 185,855
- cash payments to employees (444,184, (401,909)
- net premium income 57,263 76,483
- other premium from insurance activity (129,294, (149,360)
- other expenses paid (768,217) 134,094
- other income received 411,928 (886,010)
- income taxes paid (224,6601) (132,364)
- Expenses/income from group of assets being sold — —
2. Cash generated/absorbed by financial assets (197,097) 5,259,240
- financial assets held for trading (813,289)
- financial assets valued at fair value —
- financial assets mandatorily valued at fair value (3,657)
- financial assets valued at fair value with impact taken to profit and loss 961,638
- financial assets valued at amortized cost (1,307,743)
- other assets 965,954 122,382
- financial assets held for trading (TAS39 pursuant) (267,303)
- financial assets available for sale (IAS39 pursuant) 562,790
- due from customers (IAS39 pursuant) (390,114)
- due from banks: on demand (IAS39 pursuant) 2,802,167
- due from banks: other (IAS39 pursuant) 2,429,318
3. Cash generated/absorbed by financial liabilities 14,069 (4.890.687)
- financial liabilities valued at amortized cost (266,712)
- financial liabilities held for trading 257,002
- financial liabilities designated at fair value —
- other liabilities 23,779 (203,119)
- trading liabilities (IAS39 pursuant) (290,366)
- due to banks: other (IAS39 pursuant) (232,719)
- due to customers (IAS39 pursuant) 852,372
- debt securities (IAS39 pursuant) (3,722,089)
- due to banks: on demand (IAS39 pursuant) (1,294.,766)
Net cash flow (outflow) from operating activities 12.864 381.323
B. Cash flows from investment activity
1. Cash generated from: 193.072 332,878
- disposal of shareholdings 1,443 —
- dividends received in respect of equity investments 182,442 177,506
- disposals/redemptions of financial assets held to maturity (IAS39 pursuant) 128,126
- disposals of tangible assets 192 11,479
- disposals of intangible assets 27 1,138
- disposals of subsidiaries or business units 8,968 14,629
2. Cash absorbed by: (25.747) (511,783)
- purchases of shareholdings — (149,682)
- acquisitions of held-to-maturity investments (332,583)
- purchases of tangible assets (10,416) (9,149)
- purchases of intangible assets (15,331) (20,369)
- purchases of subsidiaries or business units — —
Net cash flow (outflow) from investment activity 167.325 (178.,905)
C. Cash flows from funding activity (679.828) (294.641)
- issuance/acquisition of treasury shares (266,186) 24,835
- issuance/acquisition of capital instruments (2,412) (20)
- distribution of dividends and other purposes (411,230) (319,456)
- purchases/acquisition of minorities — —
Net cash flow (outflow) from funding activities (679.828) (294.641)
Net cash flow (outflow) during the period (499,639) (92.223)
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Reconciliation of Movements in Cash Flow during the Period

(€7000)

Accounting items Amount
30/6/19 30/6/18
Cash and cash equivalents: balance at start of period 1,238,001 1,330,224
Total cash flow (ouflow) during the period (499,639) (92,223)
Cash and cash equivalents: exchange rate effect — —
Cash and cash equivalents: balance at end of period 738,362 1,238,001
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Part A -Accounting policies
A.1 - General part

Section 1 - Statement of conformity with TAS/IFRS

Section 2 - General principles

Section 3 - Area and methods of consolidation

Section 4 - Events subsequent to the reporting date

Section 5 - Other aspects

A.2 - Significant accounting policies

A.3 - Information on transfers between financial asset portfolios
A.4 - Information on fair value

A.5 - Information on day one profit/loss

Part B -Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
Assets

Section 1 - Heading 10: Cash and cash equivalents

Section 2 - Heading 20: Financial assets recognized at fair value
through profit and loss

Section 3 - Heading 30: Financial assets recognized at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Section 4 - Heading 40: Financial assets recognized at amortized cost

Section 5 - Heading 50: Hedging derivatives

Section 7 - Heading 70: Equity investments

Section 9 - Heading 90: Property, plant and equipment

Section 10 - Heading 100: Intantible assets

Section 11 - Asset heading 110 and liability heading 60: Tax assets and liabilities
Section 12 - Asset heading 120 and liability heading 70: Non-current assets

and groups of assets being sold and related liabilities

Section 13 - Heading 130: Other assets

Liabilities

Section 1 - Heading 10: Financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost
Section 2 - Heading 20: Trading liabilities

Section 3 - Heading 30: Financial liabilities recognized at fair value
Section 4 - Heading 40: Hedging derivatives

Section 6 - Heading 60: Tax liabilities

Section 8 - Heading 80: Other liabilities

Section 9 - Heading 90: Staff severance indemnity provision

Section 10 - Heading 100: Provisions

Section 11 - Heading 110: Technical reserves

Section 13 - Headings 120, 130, 140, 150, 160, 170 and 180: Net equity
Section 14 - Heading 190: Net equity attributable to minorities
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Other information

Part C - Notes to consolidated profit and loss account

Section 1 - Headings 10 and 20: Net interest income
Section 2 - Headings 40 and 50: Net fee and commission income

Section 3 - Heading 70: Dividends and similar income

Section 4 - Heading 80: Net trading income

Section 5 - Heading 90: Net hedging income (expense)

Section 6 - Heading 100:
Section 7 - Heading 110:

Net gains (losses) on disposals/repurchases
Net gains (losses) on other financial assets and

liabilities recognized at fair value through profit and loss

Section 8 - Heading 130:
Section 9 - Heading 140:

derecognition
Section 10 - Heading 160:
Section 11 - Heading 170:
Section 12 - Heading 190:
Section 13 - Heading 200:
Section 14 - Heading 210:
Section 15 - Heading 220:
Section 16 - Heading 230:
Section 17 - Heading 250:
Section 20 - Heading 280:
Section 21 - Heading 300:
Section 23 - Heading 340:
Section 25 - Heading 350:

Net value adjustments for credit risk
Net gains (losses) from modifications without

Net premium income

Other net income (expense) from insurance operations
Administrative expenses

Net transfers to provisions

Net adjustments to tangible assets

Net adjustments to intangible assets

Other operating income (expense)

Gains (losses) on equity investments

Gains (losses) upon disposal of investments
Income tax on ordinary activities

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to minorities
Earnings per share

Part D - Other comprehensive income

Part E - Information on risks and related hedging policies

Introduction

Section 1 — Accounting consolidated risks

Section 2 — Prudential consolidated risks

Part F - Information on consolidated capital

Section 1 - Consolidated capital

Section 2 - Own funds and banking supervisory ratios

Part G - Combinations involving Group companies or business units

Part H - Related party transactions

Part I - Share-based payment schemes

Part L - Segmental reporting
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Part A - Accounting policies

A.1 - General policies

SECTION 1
Statement of conformity with IAS/ITFRS

The Mediobanca Group’s consolidated financial statements for the period
ended 30 June 2019 have, as required by Italian Legislative Decree 38/05, been
drawn up in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and International Accounting Standards (IAS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the respective interpretations issued by
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which
were adopted by the European Commission in accordance with the procedure laid
down in Article 6 of regulation CE 1606/02 issued by the European Parliament
and Council on 19 July 2002. The consolidated financial statements for the period
ended 30 June 2019 have also been prepared on the basis of the “Instructions
on preparing statutory and consolidated financial statements for banks and
financial companies which control banking groups” issued by the Bank of Italy
in its circular no. 262 on 22 December 2005 (fifth update issued on 22 December
2017), which lay down the structure to be used in compiling and preparing the
financial statements and the contents of the notes to the accounts. !

SECTION 2
General principles

These consolidated financial statements comprise:
— Balance sheet;
—  Profit and loss account;
— Comprehensive income statement;

— Statement of changes to net equity;

! The Bank of Ttaly has published the sixth update to its circular no. 262/05 which the Mediobanca Group has applied starting from 1 July 2019.
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—  Cash flow statement (direct method);

— Notes to the accounts.

All the statements have been drawn up in conformity with the general
principles provided for under IAS and the accounting policies illustrated in
part A.2, and show data for the period under review compared with that for the
previous financial year in the case of balance-sheet figures or the corresponding
period of the previous financial year for profit-and-loss data.

International financial reporting standards IFRS 9 and 15 came into force
during the year under review, both of which have been incorporated into the
Group’s accounting policies.

The table below listes the regulations approved by the European Commission
that have supplemented the regulations on accounting standards in force and
have therefore been incorporated into the accounting policies, despite not
having a significant impact on the Group’s accounts:

Approval Group application  Topic
regulation date
2018/182 of 7 February 2018 1 July 2018 Amendments to TAS 28 — Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRS 1 — First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards

2018/289 of 26 February 2018 1 July 2018 Amendments to IFRS 2 — Share-Based Payment Transactions

2018/400 of 14 March 2018 1 July 2018 Amendments to IAS 40 — Investment Property

2018/519 of 28 March 2018 1 July 2018 Adoption of IFRIC 22 — Foreign Currency Transaction and Advance
Consideration

The following table lists the regulations approved by the European
Commission during the twelve months which will be applied as from the next
financial year, which supplement the regulations on accounting standards in
force and will be incorporated into the Group’s accounting policies accordingly:

Approval Group application  Topic

regulation date

2017/1986 of 31 October 2017 1 July 2019 Adoption of IFRS 16 — Leasing

2018/498 of 22 March 2018 1 July 2019 Amendments to IFRS9 — Prepayment features with negative compensation
2018/1595 of 23 October 2018 1 July 2019 Adoption to IFRS9 — Uncertainty over income tax treatments
2019/237 of 8 February 2019 1 July 2019 Amendments to IAS 28 — Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
2019/402 of 13 March 2019 1 July 2019 Amendments to TAS 19 — Employee Benefits

2019/412 or 14 March 2019 1 July 2019 Amendments to TAS 12 — Income Taxes

Amendments to IAS 23 — Borrowing Costs

Amendments to IFRS 3 — Business Combinations

Amendments to IFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements
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Transition to IFRS 9 on financial instruments 2
1. Regulatory framework

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued
the new IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, introducing new standards on the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, on the criteria and
means for calculating value adjustments, and on the hedge accounting model.
The ratification process was completed with the issue of Regulation (EU)
2016/2067 by the European Commission on 22 November 2016, published in
the Official Journal of the European Union (L 323) on 29 November 2016.

The Mediobanca Group adopted IFRS 9 as from 1 July 2018.

IFRS 9, with regard to financial instruments, is structured into three
different areas: “Classification and measurement”, “Impairment” and “Hedge
accounting”.

The most important changes involve the “Classification and measurement”
and “Impairment” areas, whereas the changes introduced in on the issue of
“Hedge accounting” are less significant. Details are as follows:

— How financial assets (apart from shares) are classified and measured depends
on two tests, one of the business model and the other on the contractual
cash flow characteristics, known as the “Solely Payments of Principal and
Interest Test” (or SPPI). Only those instruments which pass both tests can be
recognized at amortized cost, otherwise they will have to be measured at fair
value, with the effects taken through the profit and loss account (hence this
will become the residual portfolio). There is also an intermediate portfolio
(“Hold to collect and sell”), for which, like with the previous Available
for sale portfolio, the instruments are recognized at fair value through net
equity (i.e. through Other comprehensive income). Shares still have to be
recognized at fair value, apart from those held for trading, the fair value
effects of which can be recognized in a net equity reserve rather than taken
through the profit and loss account; however, the possibility of recycling
has been removed, i.e. the effects of sales will no longer be taken through
the profit and loss account. No major changes will be made to the treatment

2 A “Report on transition to IFRS 9 has been published on the Group’s website at www.mediobanca.com.
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of financial liabilities in terms of their classification and measurement.
Indeed, the existing rules will remain in force apart from the accounting
treatment of own credit risk: for financial liabilities recognized at fair value
(or under the fair value option), the standard stipulates that the changes in
fair value attributable to changes in own credit risk must be booked to net
equity, unless such treatment creates or inflates an accounting asymmetry
in the profit for the period, whereas the remaining amount of the changes in
the fair value of the liabilities must be taken through profit and loss.

On the issue of impairment, for instruments recognized at amortized cost
and fair value against a matching entry in net equity (apart from equity
instruments), the new standard moves from an incurred to an expected
impairment model; provisioning will have to be carried out for the whole
portfolio (i.e. for assets with no impairment as well) and based on estimates
which reflect macroeconomic factors (“expected losses”). In particular,
at stage 1 of the recognition process, the instrument will have to reflect
the expected loss over a 12-month time horizon; if there is a significant
increase in the credit risk, the asset is classified as under-performing (stage
2), meaning its valuation will have to factor in the expected loss over its
whole life-time; and if further impairment is recorded, the asset will be
classified as non-performing (stage 3), where the final recoverable value
will be estimated. The expected loss will be based on point-in-time data
reflecting the internal credit models.

As for hedge accounting, the new model rewrites the rules for designating
a hedge relationship and for checking its effectiveness, with the objective
of aligning accounting representation with risk management activities, and
improving the disclosure on risk management activities performed by the
entity preparing the financial reporting.

2. Impact on the Group

2.1 Classification and measurement

Among the activities required for classification and measurement of financial

instruments, IFRS 9 has introduced new rules for financial assets based on the

portfolio management model used and the contractual cash flow characteristics

of the instruments concerned, as certified via the SPPI (Solely Payment of

Principal and Interest) test.
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The standard identifies two main macro models: Hold to collect and Hold to
collect and sell, plus a residual business model (Other) which brings together all
portfolios held for trading purposes which continue to be recognized at fair value
with any changes to it taken through the profit and loss account.

For the purposes of classifying financial instruments, the business model has
been analysed by assessing the Group’s entire financial assets portfolio in view of
the strategy instituted by senior management, risk management on the portfolio,
remuneration mechanisms, reporting methodologies and movements (past sales
and future expectations). These considerations have been incorporated in the
internal management policies, which as well as reiterating the link between
the business model and accounting treatment, also introduce frequency and
significance thresholds for portfolios recognized at cost.

The analysis performed showed that:

—  The loan books — which under TAS 39 were recognized at amortized cost as
“Loans and Receivables” — have a management strategy which is consistent
with a Hold to Collect business model;

— Debt securities held as part of the banking book which constitute “Financial
assets held to maturity” under IAS 39, are classified based on a Hold to
Collect model;

— Debt securities held as part of the banking book which constitute “Financial
assets available for sale” are classified almost entirely on the basis of a
Hold to Collect and Sell business models; in some limited cases portfolio
reclassifications have been made to reflect the business model as at the date
of first-time adoption of the standard;

— Debt securities held as part of the trading book move to the “Other”
business model, apart from certain limited cases in which portfolios have
been reclassified from financial assets measured at fair value to other
comprehensive income to reflect changes in the business model associated
with such instruments;

— As for equities, shares held for trading purposes also move to the “Other”
business model, while the Group has exercised its option to recognize
AFS equities at fair value against a matching net equity reserve, without
the cumulative changes in value being recycled through the profit and
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loss account (accounting category: “Fair Value to Other Comprehensive
Income”, or “FVOCI”). For funds, stock units held over the medium-/long-
term horizon are consistent with a Hold to Collect and Sell business model,
while those which form part of trading strategies are treated in accordance
with the “Other” business model.

It should be noted that the standard allows the reporting institution to opt, at
the initial recognition stage and irrevocably, to measure financial assets which
would otherwise be recognized at amortized cost, or FVOCI, at fair value, and to
take the effects through the profit and loss account (“Fair Value Through Profit
& Loss”, or “FVPL”).

To complete the classification phase for financial instruments according to
the new categories provided for by IFRS 9, the business model analysis must be
accompanied by analysis of the contractual cash flows (the “Solely Payment of
Principal and Interest”, or “SPPI”, test).

The SPPI test is performed at the level of the individual financial
instrument, product or sub-product, and is based on the contractual features
of the asset being tested. To this end, the Group has drawn up a standardized
process for performing the test, in which loans are analysed using a tool
developed internally based on decision-making trees, for the individual
financial instrument or product according to the degree of customization
involved. If the instrument or product fails the test, the SPPI Tool will suggest
recognizing the asset at fair value and taking the effects through the profit and
loss account (“Fair Value Through Profit & Lo